
 

Democratic Services ◦ Chief Executive’s Department ◦ Leicestershire County Council ◦ County Hall  

Glenfield ◦ Leicestershire ◦ LE3 8RA ◦ Tel: 0116 232 3232 ◦ Email: democracy@leics.gov.uk 
 

 

www.twitter.com/leicsdemocracy  

  
www.facebook.com/leicsdemocracy  

  
www.leics.gov.uk/local_democracy  

 

 

 
 

  
 
 
 

Meeting: Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland Police and Crime Panel  
 
 

 

Date/Time: Wednesday, 2 October 2013 at 9.30 am 

Location: Framland Committee Room, County Hall 

Contact: Sam Weston (Tel: 0116 305 6226) 

Email: sam.weston@leics.gov.uk 

 
Membership 

 
Mr. J. T. Orson JP CC (Chairman) 

 
Cllr. R. B. Begy 

Cllr. David Bill MBE 
Cllr. J. Boyce 

Cllr. A. V. Greenwood MBE 
Cllr. P. King 

Miss. H. Kynaston 
Col. R. Martin OBE, DL 

 

Cllr. Trevor Pendleton 
Cllr. Byron Rhodes 
Cllr. Sarah Russell 
Cllr. Lynn Senior 
Cllr. D. Slater 
Cllr. Manjula Sood, MBE 
Cllr. Paul Westley 
 

 
AGENDA 

 
Item   Report by   
 
1.  
  

Minutes of the meeting held on 12 September 
2013.  
 

 
 

(Pages 3 to 6) 

2.  
  

To advise of any other items which the 
Chairman has decided to take as urgent 
elsewhere on the agenda.  
 

 
 

 

3.  
  

Declarations of interest in respect of items on 
the agenda.  
 

 
 

 

4.  
  

Draft Police and Crime Plan.  
 

Police and Crime 
Commissioner 
 

(Pages 7 - 76) 
 

 The Police and Crime Commissioner and Acting 

Chief Constable have been invited to attend for this 

item. 

 

 



 
 
 
 

5.  
  

Stage 2 Transfers - Update.  
 

Police and Crime 
Commissioner 
 

 
 

 A presentation will be delivered under this item. 

 
 

 

6.  
  

Date of next meeting.  
 

 
 

 
 

 The next meeting of the Police and Crime Panel 

has yet to be scheduled. 

 
 

 

7.  
  

Any other items which the Chairman has 
decided to take as urgent.  
 

 
 

 



 

  

 
Minutes of a meeting of the Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland Police and Crime Panel 
held at County Hall, Glenfield on Thursday, 12 September 2013.  
 

PRESENT 
 

Mr. J. T. Orson JP CC (in the Chair) 
 

Cllr. David Bill MBE 
Cllr. J. Boyce 
Miss. H. Kynaston 
Col. R. Martin OBE, DL 
 

Cllr. Trevor Pendleton 
Cllr. Lynn Senior 
Cllr. D. Slater 
Cllr. Manjula Sood, MBE 
 

 
Apologies 
 
Cllr. R. B. Begy, Cllr. P. King, Cllr. Byron Rhodes, Cllr. Sarah Russell and 
Cllr. Paul Westley 
 
In attendance 
 
Helen King and Sir Clive Loader 
 

25. Minutes.  
 
The Minutes of the meeting on 28 August were agreed as a correct record. 
 

26. Urgent Items.  
 
There were no urgent items for consideration. 
 

27. Declarations of Interest.  
 
The Chairman invited members who wished to do so to declare any interest in respect of 
items on the agenda for the meeting. 
 
Cllr. Sood declared personal interests as the Chairman of the Leicester Council of Faiths, 
the Regional Ambassador of Sport England and as a patron of CLASP – The Carers’ 
Centre. 
 

28. Confirmation Hearing for the Post of Chief Finance Officer.  
 
The Police and Crime Panel considered a report of the Office of the Police and Crime 
Commissioner (OPCC) in regard to its proposed appointment of Mrs. Helen King to the 
recently vacated post of Chief Finance Officer (CFO). A copy of a report of the OPCC, 
marked ‘4’, is filed with these minutes. 
 
Prior to the commencement of the Confirmation Hearing, the Chairman outlined the 
process to be adhered to, taking those present through a process document which had 
been circulated to all members with the agenda for the meeting. A copy of this report was 
filed with the minutes.  
 
The Chairman welcomed the Police and Crime Commissioner (PCC) and Mrs. Helen 
King to the meeting, both of whom were present to respond to any questions the Panel 

Agenda Item 13



 
 

 

had about the appointment process and Mrs. King’s abilities in respect of “professional 
competence” and “personal independence”. Each member of the Panel introduced 
themselves to Mrs. King. 
 
In introducing the candidate the Panel, the PCC outlined the following points in explaining 
how the OPCC had arrived at Mrs. King as being the most suitable candidate for the role 
of CFO: 
 

• The recruitment process that had been followed had represented “best practice” in 
terms of human resources; 
 

• The PCC had recruited the candidate whom he felt would be the most able to 
challenge him. He wished not to appoint someone who would be prone to 
sycophancy, instead opting for someone who had a deep professional confidence 
who would feel able to robustly hold him to account when required to do so; 
 

• The OPCC’s office was open-plan and consisted of a very small and tight team. For 
this reason, the PCC felt that he had to appoint someone with the right chemistry, in 
order they would be able to quickly develop strong working relationships with key 
officers such as the CEO and the Chief Constable’s finance officer, Paul Dawkins; 
 

• The salary for the CFO was “spot salary” of £80,000. This meant that there was no 
progression beyond this amount, subject to the wishes of the PCC, should he feel the 
candidate was worthy of a rise in salary commensurate with their performance. The 
probation period for the post was six months. 

 
Arising from the Panel’s questioning of the PCC following his introduction, the following 
points were noted: 
 

• The PCC had appointed an officer to carry out the CFO role on a temporary basis 
following the departure of Peter Lewis in early September. This officer was a qualified 
accountant who had received the relevant security clearances and was working to 
the PCC; 
 

• The terms and conditions of Mrs. King’s current post at Northamptonshire Probation 
Service required her to serve 3 months’ notice, but it was noted that she had 
managed to negotiate with her current employer a reduced notice period which 
meant she was able to start her new job on 4 November. 

 
Following questioning, the Chairman invited the PCC to leave the room in order that the 
Panel could assess the candidate in he viewed to be a fair way, particularly in respect of 
“personal independence”. The Chairman confirmed that this request was in line with best 
practice established elsewhere at other Confirmation Hearings across the country. 
 
In agreeing to leave the room, the PCC suggested that the Panel might have been better 
able to assess the candidate’s abilities in respect of personal independence had he 
remained in the room, to ensure that she was able to robustly and confidently stand up to 
the PCC in the questioning process. 
 

(The PCC left the room at 4.20pm.) 
 
In introducing herself and the reasons why she had applied for the job, Mrs. King covered 
the following key points: 

4



 
 

 

 

• She was a qualified accountant with an MSc in Business Administration; 
 

• She had always worked in the public sector, with previous roles at the Police and the 
Probation Service. She stressed her loyalty to the organisations she had been 
previously been employed at and confirmed that she was not someone who regularly 
moved jobs. Whilst her portfolio had been dynamic, it had always had finance at its 
core. She was passionate about criminal justice and using public money effectively; 
 

• She had watched the legislative changes in respect of the Police with interest and 
recognised that the environment was had changed vastly over a relatively short 
period of time. She hoped she would be able to build on the good work carried out by 
the OPCC thus far and looked forward to working with them and partners; 
 

• She had already spent two days with staff at the OPCC in order to become 
acclimatised to the new role and be briefed on the high priority issues she would face 
on taking office. She had further time booked to spend at the OPCC prior to taking up 
the role on an official basis. 
 

Arising from Mrs. King’s introduction and the questioning of the Panel, the following 
points were noted. 
 
Professional Competence 
 

• In working as part of a team, she felt she had “made a difference” in her previous role 
at the Probation Service by making significant budgetary reductions as painlessly as 
possible, avoiding compulsory redundancies; 
 

• She was expecting to be part of a strong team at the OPCC, offering professional 
advice on Section 151 issues and the content of key strategic plans, as well as 
playing a role in respect of commissioning and performance monitoring. She 
expected these responsibilities to be carried out through close liaison with others and 
by having a strategic view of the issues at hand; 
 

• She recognised the financially challenging times within which the Police and partners 
were operating in, but felt that maintaining the confidence of the public was 
paramount. For this reason, communications with the public and the way in which 
messages were delivered would be key to ensuring their confidence in the Force 
remained; 
 

• It would be her role to ensure robust scrutiny of financial plans and highlighting to 
colleagues where there were significant risk factors. It would also be essential to 
regularly monitor the Police and Crime Plan and to keep track of what actions were 
being taken; 
 

• In her previous role she had been required to evaluate a contract to deliver services 
to young offenders. In essence, this meant looking at how the Service could get the 
best from the contract and ensure a high quality and accessible service for users; 
 

• Having worked in the Probation Service, her role had involved partnership working in 
the public and voluntary sectors. She was aware of the challenges facing partners 
and how they differed from each other in terms of size, risk factors and the pressures 

5



 
 

 

they faced. Her previous role had also involved working in the  area of 
commissioning; 

 
Personal Independence 
 

• She fully understood the separation of duties between the PCC and the Chief 
Constable. It would be important to pro-actively challenge each other when 
necessary to ensure alignment to the Police and Crime Plan; 
 

• She had been required to show personal independence in her previous role, when 
she disagreed with the approach taken on an issue by her boss. She had looked at 
the facts, sought professional advice accordingly and remained of the view that the 
actions taken by her boss were wrong. She further felt that she would have been able 
to demonstrate this ability had the PCC remained in the room while she was being 
questioned by the Panel; 
 

• As a senior leader she was fully aware of the “Nolan Principles” and how they applied 
to her previous role and the role of CFO; 
 

• She had no outside interests which would prejudice her ability to carry the role. 
 

(The PCC re-joined the room at 4.55pm.) 
 

The Chairman thanked the PCC and Mrs. King for their attendance and informed them 
that it would be necessary for the Panel to come to a view in private on whether to 
endorse or otherwise the PCC’s proposed appointment. The Chairman indicated that the 
OPCC would be notified of the Panel’s decision within 24 hours and that they would need 
to come to a view together on when it would be appropriate to publicise this decision in 
order that Mrs. King be given a cooling off period to consider her position and ask any 
further questions of the PCC prior to agreeing to take on the role. 
 
(The PCC and Mrs. King left the room and the Panel went into private session to discuss 
and make its decision.) 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That, in light of the responses given relating to the strategic role, performance 
management and independence required of the post of CFO, the Panel has no hesitation 
in agreeing to endorse the PCC’s appointment of Mrs. Helen King to the post of CFO. 
 

29. Date of next meeting.  
 
It was NOTED that the next meeting of the Police and Crime Panel was scheduled to 
take place on 2 October at 9.30am. 
 
 

4.00  - 5.00 pm CHAIRMAN 
12 September 2013 

 

6



1 

 

POLICE AND CRIME 
COMMISSIONER FOR 

LEICESTERSHIRE 
POLICE AND CRIME PANEL 

 
 

Report of POLICE AND CRIME COMMISSIONER 
 

Date TUESDAY OCTOBER 2ND 2013 - 09:30 A.M. 
 

Subject 
 

THE POLICE AND CRIME PLAN REFRESH  

Author CHIEF EXECUTIVE AND CHIEF FINANCE OFFICER  
 

Purpose of Report 
 
1. To brief the Police and Crime Panel (the Panel) on the principal changes made to the 

Police and Crime Plan (the Plan) and to introduce the refreshed plan that is to be 
published by 25th October 2013. A copy of the refreshed plan is attached to this report.  

 
Recommendation 
 
2. It is recommended that the Panel consider and endorse the refresh of the Plan. 
 
Background 
 
3. The Police and Crime Plan 2013-2017 (the Plan) was presented to the panel at the 

meeting on the 25th March 2013 and published thereafter. In the Plan a pledge was 
made that its content would be refreshed to ensure that it continues to reflect the needs 
of the people of Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland.  

 
4. A group of internal and external partners make up the Police and Crime Plan Steering 

Group who have met regularly to inform the Plan. The group is made up of statutory 
partners and other criminal justice partners. Partners from health, district councils, 
community safety partnerships (CSP) and the courts service regularly attended. It is 
intended that this version of the Plan further emphasises the previous partnership thrust 
of the earlier document.  

 
5. The refreshed document now more deeply reflects what really matters to people, 

communities and partners, as well as incorporating lessons learned and updated 
thinking since the election of the Police and Crime Commissioner (PCC) in November 
2012.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

PAPER MARKED 

 

Agenda Item 47



2 

 

 
Refresh of the Police and Crime Plan 
 
7. The Police and Crime Commissioner made a commitment to publish a refreshed Police 

and Crime Plan in October 2013, particularly to reflect progress towards strategic 
priorities in the Plan, commissioning intentions and a balanced Medium Term Financial 
Strategy.  

 
8. The Police and Crime Plan refresh is project managed by the Office of the Police and 

Crime Commissioner (OPCC) Planning and Performance Co-ordinator. Consultation and 
Engagement has been undertaken from 24th April 2013 to 31st August 2013 through 
regular Police and Crime Plan Steering Group meetings, which resulted in a wide 
partnership engagement programme being co-ordinated through these meetings.  

 
9. Partnership engagement and consultation exercises have been completed and feedback 

from the partnership has been circulated to members of the Police and Crime Plan 
Steering Group.   

 
10. An updated section on the commissioning intentions and the financial challenge has 

been completed and included in the refresh.  
 
11. A draft Plan was circulated for consultation on 15th August 2013 for a two week period 

which ended on the 30th August. The draft Plan was circulated to partners, Independent 
Advisory Groups (IAGs), the local branches of the Federation and Unison and made 
available to the public.  

 
12.  A total of 28 responses were received which can be summarised (unverified) as being: 
 

Source  Number of 
Responses 

Local authorities (including Parish Council) 6 

Independent Advisory Groups 5 

Local Organisations 5 

JARAP 1 

Internal - Police Officer 10 

Internal - Police Staff 1 

Total separate responses 28 

 
 
13. The feedback from the responses has been analysed and the main changes to the Plan 

following the feedback are detailed below.  
 
What are the main changes to the Plan and the impact?  
 
12. During engagement and consultation exercises with partners, the Police and Crime Plan 

Steering group discussed the original Plan and how this could be improved. This has 
been used to improve the layout and style of the document while revising the Plan.  

 
13. To emphasise the partnership approach to achieving the Plan objectives, it now has two 

This will make the Plan more partnership focused.  
 

8



3 

 

14. Engagement concluded that the Plan should focus on four key themes (rather than the 
six suggested in the original Plan) - 

-  and these themes will provide the basis for setting the strategic 
direction and accountability for policing and partnerships section. Strategic priorities 
underpin these themes. This will enable the commissioning intentions to be linked 
directly to the Plan themes.  

 
15. The Financial Challenge section is now provided in a separate document.  This change 

came about through feedback from IAGs and is explained in section 11 of the plan. This 
will make the Plan more community focused.  

 
What feedback was received during the consultation period 15 August  30 August 2013? 
 
16. The draft Plan was sent out with an accompanying letter. This letter requested specific 

feedback on areas that the PCC felt would benefit from partners expertise and guidance. 
The feedback is reflected in the second draft of the Plan. These additions strengthen the 
content of the Plan but do not change the Plan greatly.  

 
 
17. Detail and content of the responses also varied greatly, ranging from feedback on 

grammar to reports with up to sixteen pages of page by page feedback. This feedback 
has been analysed and the main themes have been drawn out. From the responses a 
total of 9 clear themes were apparent (which are listed in para 20).  

 
 
What process has been followed to decide whether the feedback is included in the 
second version of the draft Plan? 
 
18. A spread sheet has been produced to capture the themes and detail of the feedback 

wherever possible. In cases where there are page by page comments, categories and 
specific themes have been captured.   

 
19. Themes and recommendations have been drawn out from content provided in the 

responses. The feedback has been analysed and the impact of incorporating or omitting 
the detail has been assessed. Following this assessment, recommendations were then 
presented to the PCC.  

 
20. The PCC has provided a final decision on whether changes to the document are made 

in version 2 of the Refreshed Plan.  
 
What have been the main themes in the feedback received? 
 

 Remove commercial burglary as a strategic priority  Police  

 Remove vehicle crime as strategic priorities  Police 

 Reduce the number of targets in the Police and Crime Plan  Police  

 Full recognition of the diversity of Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland - Various 
Partners 

 The Financial Challenge Section. Should it be included?  IAGs 

 Transparency and Accountability. Is it in the right section of the report?  IAGs  

 Reference to Partner Statutory Responsibilities  Various Partners  

 How the Plan will deliver on the strategic priorities  Various Partners  

 PCC to pledge support for increasing efficiency through streamlining processes - 
Various Partners 

9



4 

 

 
 
 
What has been agreed to be included or removed in version 2 of the draft Plan? 
 
21. Commercial burglary  Commercial Burglary will be removed as a strategic priority. It 

was felt that this is not a crime type that affects communities like other crimes and 
The impact of this will be a 

reduction in targets and the increased resources to focus on the crime and behaviour 
that causes the most harm.  

 
22. Vehicle crime - Vehicle crime will remain in the Plan. It was felt that this criminality does 

have a high impact on the people of Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland. The Police 
agreed vehicle crime as a strategic priority in November 2012 at the Strategic Tasking 
and Co-ordination Group. This proposal was made based on a scientific threat, risk and 
harm scoring matrix carried out by the Force Intelligence Bureau (FIB). It was agreed 
that the Plan should take into account this scoring. It is recognised that it is not a crime 
type that causes severe harm like other crime types in the Plan, but it does affect 
confidence and is a crime that matters to people. Although the Home Office have 
suggested there should only be one target which is to reduce crime, it is the PCCs 
commitment to drive down crimes that impact on the people of Leicester, Leicestershire 
and Rutland and vehicle crime is one of these crimes.   

 
23. Vehicle crime will 

(HMIC) in the IQuanta rankings. Therefore there is a target for vehicle crime which must 
be monitored, reviewed and achieved to ensure scrutiny from the HMIC is not required.  

 
For all crime types with an IQuanta performance reporting structure, a target has been 
set to seek to achieve the IQuanta average or maintain the performance above average. 
This structure will fulfil the requirements of HMIC and will support the aim of becoming 
one of the most effective forces in the country. The impact of this is that resources can 
be commissioned to prevent and detect vehicle crime through the commissioning 
intentions and there is no adverse public reaction to removing a priority in an area that is 
not achieving the performance target.  

 
24. Number of targets in the Police and Crime Plan  Commercial Burglary will be 

removed which results in two less targets than in the previous Plan. This will enable 
focus on the remaining strategic priorities.  

 
25. The diversity of Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland - Various Partners - The 

diversity of Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland section was be re-written to take into 
account the latest census data.  An Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) is being 
completed alongside the production of the Plan and feedback is being included in the 
second draft. This will increase the value of the Plan as it is more reflective of the 
diversity of the area.  

 
26. The Financial Challenge Section There is a short paragraph in the Plan with a link to 

the full Financial Challenge section on the OPCC website. This will to ensure that the 
Plan is community focussed yet the detail is available for people to access if they wish to 
view it.  
 

27. Transparency and Accountability  It was felt that this section would be better placed 
in the opening sections of the Plan. This will be moved to section 5 of the document. 
This increases the emphasis of transparency and accountability in the Plan.  

 

10



5 

 

28. Reference to Statutory Responsibilities  A hyperlink to the statutory responsibilities 
partners hold will be included in version 2 of the Plan. This will enable those reading the 
Plan to further understand partnership working. The impact of this is that the Plan 
becomes more community focused.  

 
29. How the Plan will deliver on the strategic priorities  

responsibilities do not include influencing how the Plan will be delivered. This will be 
made clear in version 2 of the Plan with a commitment by the PCC to provide support. 
This will provide clarity that that PCC is committed to supporting delivery but is not 
responsible or able to provide operational delivery of the priorities.  

 
30. Increasing efficiency through streamlining processes  PCC to pledge support in 

the Plan - As in the above point, the PCC is committed to providing a structure that 
promotes best value for money. Delivery of the Plan is not a statutory responsibility of 
the PCC. This will be reflected in the transparency and accountability section of the Plan. 
The impact is as point 29.  

 
 
What happens when the Plan is ratified by the Chief Constable and the Police and Crime 
Panel? 
 
31. The Plan design is to be refreshed by the Leicestershire Police Corporate Services 

department. When this is complete a communications strategy will be produced for the 
launch and publication of the finalised Plan. The Plan and an Executive Summary will be 
released internally and externally by the end of October 2013. A British sign language 
and easy to read version will be produced following the launch and added to the PCC 
website, along with individual communications messages. 

 
Why has the Police and Crime Commissioner retained targets in the Police and Crime 
Plan?  
 
32. There is a national steer from the Home Office to set and achieve a single target -  of 

reducing all crime. The national guidance does not however set how this overarching 
target will be achieved. The Home Office performance reporting structure monitors 
police in regards to victim led crime. Community Safety Partnerships (CSPs) are also 
performance managed in this way. If recorded crime figures fall outside parameters set 
by the Home Office on two consecutive quartiles then scrutiny will be applied by the 
HMIC to understand and support the force to rectify the issue.  

 
33. The Police and Crime Plan therefore sets targets in line with the Home Office reporting 

and performance structure. This is to ensure that the targets will prevent the force and 
CSPs from coming under scrutiny by the HMIC. The methodology used to set the targets 
is detailed in Appendix B of the Plan. 

 
34. The Police and Crime Commissioner supports the view shared by the Chief Constable 

that local targets provide focus and motivation.  Both the PCC and the CC believe that 
challenging targets are what the public want and deserve and are in the public interest.  

 
 
Conclusion 
 
35. Through consultation and engagement a refreshed Police and Crime Plan has been 

produced reflecting stronger themes and partner priorities. The Plan reflects what really 
matters to people, communities and partners, as well as incorporating lessons learned 
and updated thinking since the election of the Police and Crime Commissioner (PCC). 

11



6 

 

 
36. In presenting final version of the refreshed Plan to this Panel, the Police and Crime 

Commissioner wishes to express his sincere thanks to the many partners, agencies, 
organisations and individuals whose inputs have greatly contributed to a stronger greater 
focussed plan. 

 
37. The Police and Crime Commissioner will be updating the Commissioning intentions to 

ensure that the refreshed plan is supported to produce the outcomes to meet the four 
themes and strategic priorities.   

 
 
Implications 
 
Financial There are significant financial implications which have been 

captured through the Change Plan. 
 

Legal 
 

No legal implications  

Equality Impact 
Assessment 
 

The Equality Impact Assessment consultation on the Plan has been 
under taken and completed. 

Risks and Impact 
 

Risks and impact have been captured in the document.  

Link to Police and 
Crime Plan 

All aspects of the Change Programme have been assessed in 
terms of their impact on the delivery of the Police and Crime Plan. 
This will continue to be monitored throughout.  

 
Background Papers 
 
Police and Crime Plan 2013-2017 
 
 
Persons to Contact 
 
Mr R Vickers, Interim Chief Finance Officer - Tel 0116 229 8700 
Email:  robert.vickers@leics.pcc.pnn.gov.uk 
 
Miss S Houlihan, Planning & Performance Co-ordinator  Tel 0116 229 8986 
Email:  suzanne.houlihan@leics.pcc.pnn.gov.uk  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

12



DRAFT version 2 

The Police and Crime Plan 
for 

Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland 
2013 – 2017

Revised Version: October 2013

13



Police and Crime Plan 2013 -17 DRAFT 

Contents 

1. My Vision 3

2. The Policing Protocol 4

3. Policing in Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland 5

3.1 The Diversity of Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland 7

3.2 Commitment to Equality and Human Rights 8

3.3 Equality achievements 9

4. Partnership working in Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland 10

4.1 Linking with the voluntary sector 11

4.2 The Youth Commission on police and crime 11

5. Transparency and Accountability 13

6. Delivery and Life Cycle of the Plan 16

7. The Police and Crime Plan Journey and Priorities 17

7.1 Setting the strategic direction and accountability for policing  17

and partnerships

7.2 Contributing to resourcing of policing response to regional and national 16

threats

8. The Strategic Direction for Policing and Partnerships 18

8.1 Reducing offending and reoffending 23

8.2 Supporting victims and witnesses 23

8.3 Making communities and neighbourhoods safer 28

8.4 Supporting work stream 31

8.5 Protecting the vulnerable 33

9. Contributing to regional and national threats - the Strategic Policing

Requirement 38

9.1 Responding to public protest and policing large events 38

9.2 Serious and organised crime 39

9.3 Counter terrorism 40

9.4 Civil contingencies and local resilience 40

10. Commissioning Intentions 41

11. The Financial Challenge 42

2

14



Police and Crime Plan 2013 -17 DRAFT 

1. My Vision

I am extremely proud and honoured to have been elected as 
the first Police and Crime Commissioner (PCC) for 
Leicestershire.  It is my vision that Leicestershire Police will 
be ranked amongst the most effective police services in the 
country.  I want to see the police continuing to drive down 
crime significantly and, by doing this, increasing the safety 
and security of the residents of Leicester, Leicestershire and 
Rutland.  

This vision is entirely achievable.  Despite reductions in 
budget (and the size of Leicestershire Police) during recent 
years, crime has continued to fall across our area; the Chief 
Constable and Leicestershire Police must take great credit 

for this.  Just as importantly, the police already have an excellent reputation for 
working both with our communities and with our partners who play their own critical 
part in helping to reduce crime and tackle the issues that matter most to you.  I 
expect this trend to continue and I will do all that I can to assist, not least by 
reinforcing a police culture of dynamism, fairness and professionalism which will be 
trusted by residents, feared by criminals, and firmly embraced with pride by officers 
and staff.  I will also continue to reinforce my commitment to recognising the diversity 
which exists within our communities, ensuring we meet the needs of everyone. 

The Chief Constable and I have already formed a close working relationship, and I 
fully support his ‘Our Duty’ mission statement, which is:

“To protect our communities by focussing on:

• Dealing with those who cause most harm 
• Protecting vulnerable people 
• Effectively deploying our people 
• Working with partners to solve locally identified problems 
• Trusting our people to use their judgement to make good decisions 
• Ensuring effective and efficient use of resources”

Working with the Chief Constable, I will ensure an efficient and effective police 
service, where resources are focussed, configured and used in such a way as to 
provide the best possible value for money. Critically in this, I look to – and indeed 
expect – the Chief Constable to encourage, recognise, reward and spread excellence 
throughout Leicestershire Police.

And lastly, on your behalf, I will listen, decide, and then act in an open and even-
handed manner.  I will serve each and every resident of Leicester, Leicestershire and 
Rutland without fear or favour – and I will be seen to do so. In summary, I will be a 
Police and Crime Commissioner for all. That is why, in this Plan, I have set clear 
priorities for the Chief Constable according to your expectations and demands; I will 
hold him to account for their delivery.

Sir Clive Loader
Police and Crime Commissioner    

3

15



Police and Crime Plan 2013 -17 DRAFT 

2. The Policing Protocol

I am responsible for setting the strategic direction and policing priorities through the 
Police and Crime Plan (the Plan) and to decide both the budget and the allocation of 
assets and funds to support the Plan.  The Plan covers the whole of my term in office 
but is a living document that is reviewed and considered against emerging threats 
and opportunities. I will re-issue it on a yearly basis to capture changing priorities. 

I am responsible for the totality of policing within Leicester, Leicestershire and
Rutland and I will hold the Chief Constable to account for the operational delivery of 
policing. I expect the Chief Constable to demonstrate how he will deliver my vision 
and strategic priorities as set out in this Plan, within his own delivery plan.

I have made a commitment to listen and to respond promptly to the people of 
Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland. I welcome contact and continue to respond to 
questions, ideas and challenges.  

I expect all police officers, staff, special constables and volunteers of Leicestershire 
Police and the Office of the Police and Crime Commissioner (OPCC) to abide by the 
‘Nolan Principles’ (as set out in the ‘Standards of Public Life’) and to act with:

Selflessness: Making decisions based in terms of public interest without fear, favour 
or prejudice.

Integrity: Being above undue or corrupt influences due to financial or other 
obligations to outside organisations or individuals.

Objectivity: Making decisions and appointments based on merit and evidence.

Accountability: All staff and officers must be able to account for their decisions and 
actions to the public and submit themselves to whatever scrutiny is appropriate to 
their office.

Openness: All staff and officers must be as open as possible, giving reasons for 
their decisions and restricting information only when it is in the wider public interest to 
do so.

Honesty: All staff and officers must be honest and ensure they do not have any 
private interests relating to their public duties that might cause conflict.

Leadership:  All staff and officers should promote and support these principles 
through leadership, thought, word and deed.

I will continually seek to assure myself that these principles are being adhered to 
through scrutiny processes I have described in section 5 of the Plan – ‘Transparency 
and Accountability’.

4

16



Police and Crime Plan 2013 -17 DRAFT 

3. Policing in Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland

Leicestershire Police has a history of more than 176 years beginning with the 
establishment of Leicester Borough Police in 1836. The separate police services for 
Leicestershire and Rutland were formed a few years later and, in 1967, combined to 
create one police service.

Sir Robert Peel is credited with the founding of the modern police service setting out 
the principle that “the police are the public and the public are the police”.  This 
principle still holds true today and, as your elected representative, I will ensure the 
police operate without fear or favour, so that they continue to work with the consent 
and help of the public.

The police service face some significant challenges - including the effects of the 
economic downturn, a rise in the number of protests across the police area, and the 
complexities of policing new and diverse communities. The Chief Constable has 
already put in place measures to protect communities from harm, including often 
unforeseen and invisible threats such as terrorism and serious and organised crime.

Leicestershire Police area covers 2,550 square kilometres and is serviced by several 
major road networks including the M1, M69, A1, A6 and A46.  

5

17



Police and Crime Plan 2013 -17 DRAFT 

During 2013/14 it will employ an average of 2,078 police officers and 1,325 police 
staff, including 229 Police Community Support Officers (PCSOs), serving a 
population of over 1 million. In an average year Leicestershire Police deal with and 
respond to:

671,000 calls into the call centre

59,000 crimes

24,445 anti-social behaviour (ASB) related incidents

8,603 adult safeguarding referrals*

19,582 child safeguarding referrals*

489 planned events and policing operations

208 armed deployments

* The Comprehensive Referral Desk receives safeguarding referrals, from both inside 
and outside of the police, regarding vulnerable/abused adults and children. All of 
these referrals are reviewed, researched, and risk assessed. The police response will 
range from simply sharing information with other agencies to arranging multi-agency 
meetings to agree a plan to resolve issues, through to a full criminal investigation,
depending on the circumstances of the criminal offence.

Since the quality and motivation of officers and staff is key to the success in 
delivering an effective policing service I am committed to supporting the development 
of a skilled and dedicated workforce.  Leicestershire Police already successfully 
undertake much work in this area. I intend to ensure that every reasonable and cost-
effective opportunity is explored to ensure that all of the people working within 
Leicestershire Police are appropriately selected, trained and equipped for their roles 
as well as being supported to develop their potential in a way which motivates them 
and helps to deliver an effective service to the public.  

The Special Constabulary is an integral part of policing in Leicester, Leicestershire 
and Rutland and, in the past year, they have volunteered (and completed) 70,320
hours of duty.  This is equivalent to 1,758 working weeks or an additional 36 full time 
officers patrolling our communities. I recognise the vital role they play in supporting 
policing across the counties and city, and I am keen to see this level of commitment 
continue. I express my thanks now to all those who give their time to policing in the 
Special Constabulary.  I am determined that their role, and their already strong 
history of service, will continue to grow.  For this reason, I support the police target to 
increase the Special Constabulary by 33% from 300 to 400 officers by 2016.  I also 
fully support the existing Leicestershire Police equality objectives, one of which is to 
continue to work towards a representative workforce which is reflective of the local 
community.  Therefore, I encourage new colleagues from across the community, 
from minority and other underrepresented groups to join the Special Constabulary.

Supporting the police in each neighbourhood are teams of volunteers. They give their 
free time to support their colleagues by getting involved in crime prevention 
initiatives, arranging meetings for the neighbourhood, staffing enquiry desks at police 
stations routinely closed to public enquiries, monitoring CCTV and many other 
activities. Leicestershire Police has a strong history of working with volunteers and 
has won the National Policing Improvement Agency “National Volunteer Team” 
award for the past 4 years (with Blaby Volunteers winning it in 2009, 2011 and 2012 
and Wigston Volunteers winning it in 2010).

6

18



Police and Crime Plan 2013 -17 DRAFT 

Volunteers are crucial to the delivery of my statutory responsibilities which include 
having in place an Independent Custody Visiting Scheme.  Custody Visitors are 
members of the public who come from a variety of backgrounds and sections of the 
community.  They volunteer to visit those held in police custody to check that the 
rules governing their welfare are being observed by the police. The role of Custody 
Visitors is to listen and observe and to report on their findings. Issues identified by 
Custody Visitors are addressed with the police and the outcomes are published to 
inform the local community of how people held in police custody are treated.  

The scheme in place was successful in October 2012 in achieving the Investors in 
Volunteers accreditation, being one of only three schemes in England and Wales to 
receive this national award. I look forward to maintaining this high standard in future 
years.

3.1 The Diversity of Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland

Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland is increasingly diverse and Leicestershire 
Police needs to be able to recognise and respond appropriately to the diversity that 
exists.  This is not only within geographic communities but broader communities that 
identify themselves by shared characteristics, such as age, disability, gender, gender 
identity, race, religion and belief and sexual orientation.

There demographics of Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland also provide some key 
areas of difference.  Leicester is now the most populated urban area in the East 
Midlands. Leicester residents come from over 50 countries across the world, with 130 
languages or dialects spoken, making the city one of the most culturally diverse 
places in the UK.  Leicester City is bidding to become the UK City of Culture. 
Leicester is home to a number of vibrant festivals and other cultural events such as; 
the Caribbean Carnival, Diwali, Eid al-Fitr, the Leicester and Loughborough Melas, 
Leicester Pride and Vasaikhi.  Leicestershire Police also has a long and proud 
relationship working with communities, such as actively supporting the Special 
Olympics.

Leicestershire is a mix of urban and rural areas.  The eastern side of the county is 
mainly rural, with small villages and market towns, whilst the north and north-west is 
more urban. The population of Leicestershire is ageing, whilst this is not unique, it is 
ageing faster than regional and national averages and this trend is expected to 
continue.  Rutland is geographically the smallest county in England, with the smallest 
population of any unitary authority.  It is largely rural with a low density of population.

The policing requirement varies from one community to another and from rural areas 
to towns and city centres. I recognise the socio-economic differences that exist 
across the police area, both between and within communities.  With some of the 
most deprived areas alongside some of the most affluent.  Across Leicester, 
Leicestershire and Rutland we have settled and traveller communities as well as new 
arrival communities, which includes asylum seekers, migrant workers and refugees.  
This Plan ensures the right balance between policing in Leicester, Leicestershire and 
Rutland and you can expect a high quality of service and response wherever you live 
and whatever your circumstances.

7

19



Police and Crime Plan 2013 -17 DRAFT 

3.2 Commitment to Equality, Diversity and Human Rights

Leicestershire Police has a long standing commitment to equality, diversity and 
human rights. There is a strong emphasis on working towards a service that not only 
recruits police officers, police staff, special constables and volunteers from the 
different communities within Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland but equips them to 
understand and meet the needs of communities in the future.  

Leicestershire Police works with three independent advisory groups (IAGs); the 
Disability IAG, the Leicestershire Police Advisory Group on Equality Issues (PAGRE) 
and the Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual and Transgender (LGBT) Community Safety Forum.  
These IAGs act as key independent advisors and meet with the police to discuss 
issues that affect equality both within the workplace and externally across 
communities.  In addition, Leicestershire Police is a member of the Leicestershire 
Equalities Forum (LSEF), which has a membership of local public sector partners.  In 
the past year, Leicestershire Police has worked with LSEF partners to deliver joint 
initiatives and training in areas of equality and diversity.  By working with partner 
agencies, community groups and voluntary organisations I am confident that 
Leicestershire Police will continue to improve the service they provide to all 
communities. 

Underpinning this commitment Leicestershire Police has an Equality Scheme, which 
provides a structure and accountability framework for the work on all aspects of 
equality and diversity, both internally with staff and externally in how we deliver a fair 
and equitable service to our communities.  The scheme outlines the work that 
Leicestershire Police undertakes across all of the protected characteristics, which 
are; age, disability, gender, gender reassignment, marriage and civil partnership, 
pregnancy and maternity, race, religion and belief and sexual orientation.  The 
Equality Scheme can be accessed via the following link; 
http://www.leics.police.uk/media/uploads/library/file/LC_Equality_Scheme_2013.pdf

In addition, the Equality Scheme describes how Leicestershire Police intends to meet 
their equality objectives, which have been generated through community 
consultation.  The equality objectives are:-

1. To increase the confidence of members of the community in Leicester, 
Leicestershire and Rutland to report hate crimes and incidents. 

2. To reduce the current black/white disproportionality rate of those subjected to 
stop and search activity within the policing area. 

3. To continue to work towards a representative workforce which is reflective of 
the local community.

4. To ensure that our staff engage and communicate with members of the 
community in an accessible and inclusive way.

The Equality Act 2010 places three statutory general duties on Leicestershire Police; 
to pay due regard in everything they do to: 

1. Eliminate discrimination, harassment and victimisation 
2. Advance equality of opportunity 
3. Foster good relations between different communities

I expect Leicestershire Police to deliver on the general duties and the equality 
objectives that have been set.  I will monitor progress in this area by attending the 
Strategic Equality and Fairness Board meetings, which are chaired by the Chief 
Constable.  The Board sets the strategic direction for Leicestershire Police in terms 

8

20



Police and Crime Plan 2013 -17 DRAFT 

of equality and diversity and ensures delivery of the commitments as outlined within 
the Equality Scheme.  In addition, I am open to feedback from all communities and 
will do everything possible to ensure everyone feels they are treated with dignity and 
respect by Leicestershire Police.

3.3 Equality Achievements 

Over the past year, Leicestershire Police has undertaken benchmarking in the 
following areas of equality; disability, gender, race and sexual orientation.  This has 
led to Leicestershire Police being nationally recognised by the Business Disability 
Forum, Opportunity Now, Race for Opportunity and Stonewall.  The benchmarking 
assessed the commitment Leicestershire Police has to equality and diversity in terms 
of our internal processes as well as our community engagement activities.   

In June 2013 Leicestershire Police received three awards from the Royal National 
Institute for the Blind (RNIB) College in Loughborough. This included two 
Partnerships for Employment Awards for an outstanding contribution to the 
employment of people with disabilities and the Special Recognition Award which 
recognises the on-going support that Leicestershire Police has provided over 
numerous years in supporting people with disabilities.

9

21



Police and Crime Plan 2013 -17 DRAFT 

4. Partnership working in Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland 

Partnership working is at the heart of reducing crime, making our communities safer, 
supporting victims and witnesses and protecting vulnerable people. I am committed 
to working with all organisations to achieve a better quality of life in urban and rural 
areas. This includes statutory, voluntary, community and private sector partners.

Police and partners are driving business through the development and delivery of 
their individual plans. I will continue to engage with partners across the policing area 
and beyond in the refinement and delivery of priorities. I am pleased to say that work 
ongoing within Community Safety Partnerships (CSPs), other partnerships including
health, and by individual organisations reflects local need and priorities set in the 
Police and Crime Plan and I will bring resources together to improve the return on 
partner investment. 

When faced with the task of ‘tackling crime’, a good place to start is a consideration 
of what causes crime. If we can do something about the cause, we can do something 
about crime itself.  The same principle applies when managing the high number of 
non-crime incidents the police deal with. If we can intervene to prevent the incident, 
we can do something about the need and demand for police and other services’ time.

I have been very impressed by the willingness and interest of partners to work 
towards an agenda that seeks to address the causes of crime and non-crime 
incidents, rather than dealing with the symptoms of the problem and managing the 
immediate consequences. The insight, intelligence and perspective which occurs
when organisations and agencies come together saves time and money and can
accelerate the rate of achievement of objectives. As new challenges are faced we will 
work together to reduce the impact for people and partnerships. 

I have seen evidence of a long standing history of efforts made to combine the 
expertise, intelligence and resources of a wide range of disciplines and services. This 
collaboration has achieved positive change.  There is an extensive network of 
partnerships across the region, and I am particularly encouraged by the Strategic 
Partnership Board which is well placed to manage the overall strategy and drive it 
forward. 

With this history and culture I am confident that the active contribution of the role of
the OPCC will make a significant difference. In a time of reducing budgets, the 
OPCC will maximise the resources through intelligence-led commissioning.  I am 
confident that the existing partnership landscape, along with its current joint 
commissioning arrangements, will help facilitate this.

There is a wide range of data and intelligence available from police and partners 
(including the Force Strategic Assessment, and Joint Strategic Needs Assessments 
produced by the Basic Command Units (BCU) of the City and Counties).  These have 
been assessed to enable me to prioritise areas of concern which are:

Alcohol misuse (in particular during night time economy hours) and alcohol 
dependency

Drug misuse and dependency

Mental health and well being

Offending and anti-social behaviour amongst young people

Public confidence and satisfaction with our services 

Supporting victims and witnesses 

Troubled/Supported families

10

22



Police and Crime Plan 2013 -17 DRAFT 

The number of people reported as ‘missing from home’

Vulnerable adults, including ‘mate crime’ where vulnerable adults are 
‘befriended’ and then subject to financial exploitation, abuse or neglect

By working together to tackle these issues, I believe we can prevent, intervene and 
reduce behaviours and situations which have an impact on all communities. Early 
intervention is required in addition to targeting those who cause the most harm or 
who are at the greatest risk of harm. 

I will seek to support effective partnerships such as the Multi-Agency Public 
Protection Arrangements (MAPPA), and Multi-Agency Prolific and Priority Offender 
Management (MAPPOM) teams which all rely on collaboration to target those who 
cause most harm or who are at greatest risk of harm. I recognise the value of the 
existing Community Safety Partnerships (CSPs) and will work with them to ensure 
our priorities are understood and aligned and the impact of our collective actions can 
be maximised.

I believe it is essential that we tackle these issues as a collaborative partnership. 
Through the Strategic Partnership Board, Assurance Board and Executive Groups I 
will work with partners to identify tactical approaches that will bring positive changes 
to benefit our communities and which will help all agencies work effectively together. 
The police will contribute both in time and resource to the shared agenda and I will 
do all I can to encourage and support partners to do likewise based on their 
responsibilities and priorities. The statutory responsibilities and goodwill by all our 
partners enables this Plan to be delivered. The statutory responsibilities held by 
partners are detailed in Appendix A ‘The Statutory Responsibilities of Partners’ 
available on the OPCC website: hyperlink

4.1 Linking with the voluntary sector

I strongly believe we should recognise the goodwill and commitment of the voluntary 
sector to help drive down crime.  Leicestershire Police already work closely with (and 
rely on the skills of) a number of crucial partners in the voluntary sector. I intend to 
develop our relationships with the voluntary sector to capitalise on our own police
volunteers in order to maximise the benefits from their excellent work. I have created 
and will develop a Volunteer Forum as part of my engagement and consultation 
strategy. 

4.2 The Youth Commission on police and crime 

In the first version of the Police and Crime Plan, I promised to pilot a Youth 
Commission on Police and Crime. In June 2013, Leicestershire was the first area in 
the country to establish a ‘Youth Commission on Police and Crime’ to enable young 
people aged 14-25 years to be involved in finding solutions to crime. The Youth 
Commission has been established in collaboration with the SHM Foundation, an 
independent charitable trust.

The Youth Commission for Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland is made up of a 
diverse group of 24 young people aged 14-25 years from across the police area. The 
group includes young people who are working, those who are studying at school, 
college and university, and those who are currently unemployed. The group is made 
up of young people with a range of protected characteristics from a variety of areas 
across Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland. There are a number of young people 
involved who have experienced the criminal justice system in some way.

11

23



Police and Crime Plan 2013 -17 DRAFT 

The Youth Commission will undertake a ‘Big Conversation’ with other young people 
across Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland to gather views from at least 2,000 
young people about what needs to be done to tackle crime and improve policing. 
This process will involve the members of the Youth Commission conducting 
interviews and workshops with their peers, using postcards as a tool for 
conversations, and using social media to encourage others to have their say.

The Youth Commission has identified 6 priority issues that they wish to address 
through the ‘Big Conversation’ process. These are: 

Anti-social behaviour

Drug and alcohol abuse

Hate crime

Knife and gun crime

Reducing offending and re-offending

The relationship with the police and stereotyping

Consultation undertaken by the Youth Commission will be used to inform the Police 
and Crime Plan and advise resourcing of early intervention projects. The Youth 
Commission will analyse the results at the end of this process and produce 
recommendations to take forward into future Police and Crime Plans. There will also 
be a Youth Commission Conference held in December 2013 where all of the 
achievements from the pilot programme will be celebrated and the ‘Big Conversation’ 
will be presented.

12

24



Police and Crime Plan 2013 -17 DRAFT 

5. Transparency and Accountability

I am responsible for setting the strategic direction of policing through the Police and 
Crime Plan (the Plan). This involves setting the budget and the allocation of assets 
and funds to support the Plan. I do not have a statutory responsibility for how police 
and partners deliver their services to fulfil this Plan. I will however, provide
encouragement and assistance wherever my position allows, strengthening 
relationships, providing opportunities and delivering best value for money.

To demonstrate how this Plan is being delivered I have put in place a robust 
assurance framework: 

Public Accountability – How I am held to account by the communities of 
Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland:

I will hold routine and regular local meetings so that I can listen to your concerns and 
address your priorities.  I have written this Plan to meet the needs of all communities 
of Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland and to manage threats to your security and 
safety.  I will ensure ongoing issues and concerns are addressed through the 
assurance framework described in this section.

Public and Partner Engagement and Consultation – How I will ensure that the 
many communities within Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland can engage 
with me and help to shape the future strategy and delivery of priorities:

I will develop a Consultation and Engagement Strategy which will ensure that I:

a) Listen and respond to the people in our communities;
b) Decide on the right course of action;
c) Act in an open and transparent manner.

With my office I will develop a series of, Forums and Focus Groups with the aim of 
engaging with as wide a population as possible. Together with other forms of 
communication, I will reach out to the diverse communities in the police area to build 
positive relationships, share and consult on the delivery of priority areas, and develop 
good practice. I have already agreed to be one of four pilot areas for a Youth 
Commission for Policing and Crime as detailed in 4.2 ‘The Youth Commission on 
police and Crime’.

The Police and Crime Panel (PCP) – How I am scrutinised:

This is a legally mandated panel, comprising elected Councillors from the local 
authorities plus co-opted independent members. The role of the PCP is to scrutinise 
the way in which I discharge my role as Police and Crime Commissioner, including 
making recommendations about this Police and Crime Plan.

The PCP is hosted by Leicestershire County Council and has its own terms of 
reference. All reports that the PCP produce will be made available to the public, 
including responses that I make.

The elected councillor representation on the PCP enables the public to ensure that I 
am held to account.

13

25



Police and Crime Plan 2013 -17 DRAFT 

The Joint Audit, Risk and Assurance Panel (JARAP) – Ensuring Value for 
Money:

Both the Chief Constable and I are responsible for ensuring good value for money, 
and acting with integrity in all that we do.

The JARAP is also a mandatory requirement and will be attended by five 
independently appointed individuals who will seek assurances that I have fulfilled my 
responsibility to make best use of resources and public money. 

The JARAP will meet in public throughout the year and report on their findings, and 
make recommendations, where appropriate, to myself and the Chief Constable to 
improve in the areas of risk management, internal controls and governance. 

I will ensure there is a dedicated web page showing the work of the JARAP including 
minutes, reports, actions and responses from myself and the Chief Constable in 
connection with its findings.

The Chief Constable Accountability Meeting – How I hold the Chief Constable 
to account:

I am empowered to invest significant public monies in policing and crime reduction on 
behalf of all communities and to hold the Chief Constable to account. To enable me 
to do this in a responsible, objective and effective manner I shall meet with the Chief 
Constable on a weekly basis. This provides an on-going assessment and measure of 
the Chief Constable’s performance. A representative from the OPCC will also attend 
the monthly Performance Delivery Group chaired by the Deputy Chief Constable, 
where police performance is reviewed and assessed.

I will secure relevant information to ensure constructive check and challenge in the 
delivery of this Police and Crime Plan by the Chief Constable. This will assist me in 
providing the public with the level of assurance that they require from me in 
connection with policing activities.

Strategic Assurance Board – how the Chief Constable and I work together in 
the interests of Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland residents:

The Strategic Assurance Board (SAB) has been established to ensure an effective 
working relationship between Leicestershire Police and the Office of Police and 
Crime Commissioner.  Both the Chief Constable and I will attend all SAB meetings. 
The SAB ensures that I am advised thoroughly in my decision making as well as 
ensuring best use of resources available. It will also ensure the services provided by 
Leicestershire Police and its partners are safe, legal, viable and sustainable for the 
purpose of achieving the Police and Crime Plan priorities.

The SAB will have its own terms of reference, even though it is not a mandatory 
requirement. 

Strategic Partnership Board – how I work with partners:

I believe partnership working is fundamental to the successful delivery of the Police 
and Crime Plan. I will engage with, and commission, wider partner organisations for 
this purpose. As Chair of the Strategic Partnership Board (SPB) I will contribute to 
and help coordinate the contributions of partners to the reduction of crime and the 
fear of crime across Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland. This includes the delivery 

14

26



Police and Crime Plan 2013 -17 DRAFT 

of a fair and effective local criminal justice system which will protect the public, hold 
offenders to account and reduce offending.  The net effect of this should be 
increasing confidence of our local communities. Strategy agreed at the SPB will be 
delivered through an Executive Board meeting (EB). The function of the Executive 
Board is to execute the direction of the Strategic Partnership Board (SPB) ensuring 
that effective action is undertaken. The Executive Board will coordinate, focus and 
resource the effort of groups in support of the strategic direction given by the SPB.

Through the SPB and EB I will do all that I can to encourage innovation and 
collaboration amongst organisations thereby ensuring the best use of resources.

15

27



Police and Crime Plan 2013 -17 DRAFT 

6. Delivery and Life Cycle of the Plan

In my manifesto I made clear the issues and priorities that would enable police and
partners to drive down crime.  These priorities are now placed within four key 
themes:

1.  Reducing Offending and Reoffending 
2.  Supporting Victims and Witnesses 
3.  Making Communities and Neighbourhoods Safer 
4.  Protecting the Vulnerable  

This Plan sets out key performance targets for the coming year in line with the Force 
Strategic Assessment, the UK Threat Assessment, and the Partnership Needs 
Assessment.  I have set clear targets within each priority area. For policing targets, I
will hold the Chief Constable to account for achieving these in the coming year and
beyond.

The Plan’s targets are kept in line with Her Majesty’s Inspectorate of Constabulary 
(HMIC) current practices.  I have set targets that are challenging, meaningful and will 
ensure that the police and partner’s resources are being directed in the correct way. I 
am confident that this Plan will deliver by ‘doing the right thing’ and the target 
changes reflect this. The methodology used to set the targets is detailed in Appendix 
B ‘The positive outcome rate and target setting’ available on the OPCC website:
hyperlink 

This approach ensures I have full and open community consultation and 
engagement. I am able to make sure that emerging community concerns are 
captured and inform the Plan. It also accepts that levels of crime and anti-social 
behaviour may change throughout the year dependant on a range of influences. This 
means emerging threats can be added to the Plan and threats that have been 
mitigated or are no longer a priority can be taken out. It allows for the changing 
economic forecast to be assessed and plans to be drawn up to meet austerity 
measures through to the financial year 2016/17 and beyond, as announced in the 
Chancellor’s Autumn Statement (2012).  

Strategic priorities set out in each of the strands are based on comprehensive 
research and analysis available from partners and also commissioned on my behalf.  
Details of these data sources are described in Appendix C ‘Police and Crime Plan 
data sources’ available on the OPCC website: hyperlink

16

28



Police and Crime Plan 2013 -17 DRAFT 

7. The Police and Crime Plan Journey and Priorities

The Plan recognises the increasing importance of partnership working. Two strands
have been identified to assist police and partners deliver the Plan. 

These strands are: 

7.1 Setting the strategic direction and accountability for policing and 
partnerships. This will include:

Consulting with, and involving, the public in setting the priorities for the police.

Ensuring I remain accountable for the service provided by Leicestershire 
Police.

Setting the strategic policing priorities.

Holding the police to account through the Chief Constable.

Ensuring the police respond effectively to public concerns and threats to 
public safety.

Promoting and enabling collaborative working within the arena of community 
safety and criminal justice.

Increasing public confidence in how crime is reduced and how services for 
victims and witnesses are delivered.

Ensuring partnerships work well together and make best use of the resources 
available to make our communities safer.

7.2 Contributing to resourcing of policing response to regional and national 
threats. This will include:

Ensuring an effective policing contribution alongside other partners in 
accordance with national arrangements so as to protect the public from other 
cross-boundary threats as identified in the Strategic Policing Requirement.
Working with all regional PCCs to ensure accountability for delivering efficient 
collaboration projects and value for money.

A summary of priorities and expected outcomes can be found in Appendix D
‘Strategic Priorities, Targets and Outcomes’ available on the OPCC website:
hyperlink

17

29



Police and Crime Plan 2013 -17 DRAFT 

8. The Strategic Direction for Policing and Partnerships

Through consultation and engagement with the communities of Leicester, 
Leicestershire and Rutland and working with the police and partners I have identified
four areas of work that will substantially impact on the quality of life for those in 
Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland. 

Areas of work within the four themed areas should not be read in isolation as there 
are links between themes and priority areas and contributions made by the police 
and partners. For example, working with troubled/supported families will impact upon 
overall crime and anti-social behaviour levels, whilst tackling forms of domestic 
abuse and violent crime also has links to alcohol use and the troubled/supported
families agenda.  These are themes which run throughout the Plan and this will 
provide clear commissioning opportunities. 

A theme overview and priority areas are set out in the next section. Each theme area 
is underpinned by strategic priority areas. I have shown key performance indicators,
associated targets and outcomes that I expect police to work with partners to 
achieve. This Plan should be viewed as a cohesive and shared set of priorities which 
will tackle the most pressing police and crime issues facing Leicestershire Police and 
partners.

By taking this holistic and shared view it is possible to approach these issues from 
three directions. These three cross cutting themes are:

1. Prevention: Doing everything in our power to prevent crime, anti-social 
behaviour and disorder occurring in the first place.  By working together we 
can also ensure that the most vulnerable and those who find themselves in a 
vulnerable situation in society are protected and their need to call for 
emergency assistance is reduced.

2. Intervention: Intervening effectively and efficiently across all agencies and 
the voluntary sector to deal with these issues as they occur, seeking robust 
and sustainable solutions. There is also a strong need to look at early 
intervention projects in order to stop negative behaviours potentially leading to 
criminal and anti-social activity later on.

3. Reduction: Working together to reduce the repetitive behaviours and 
activities that lead to harm, anti-social behaviour and crime.  

18

30



Police and Crime Plan 2013 -17 DRAFT 

8.1 Theme Overview and Strategic Priorities - Reducing offending and 
reoffending 

Offending and reoffending is a highly complex issue but I will work with the police and 
partners to tackle these issues and improve the safety of people in Leicester, 
Leicestershire and Rutland. 

In 2012/2013: 

In the City - 52% of all detected crime was committed by offenders under 25 
years old; 38% of the City’s population are aged under 25.

In the County - 46% of all detected crime was committed by offenders under 25 
years old; 28% of the County’s population are aged under 25.

In Rutland - 2% of all detected crime was committed by offenders under 25 
years old; 29% of Rutland’s population are aged under 25.

Young adults between the ages of 16-24 years commit 42% of all detected crime and 
therefore this age group is nearly three times more likely to be responsible for crime 
than any other age group. This age group spans the statutory work of the local 
Probation Trust and Youth Offending services that, together with other partners, 
including the voluntary sector, have made positive progress in reducing reoffending 
rates amongst this group. Community Safety Partnerships have also invested in 
ensuring that reoffending rates of adult offenders serving short sentences (many of 
which are within this age group) are addressed.

Understanding the reasons why the offending rate among young people is so high is 
fundamental to reducing the risk factors that lead to offending and enabling early 
interventions to prevent people from offending. 

Strong links exist within the wider Criminal Justice system, the Probation Service,
Youth Offending Services and Community Safety Partnerships. These links will be
developed further and together we will provide a local picture of offending related 
needs amongst adults and young people known to these services. 

Youth offending and vulnerability are clearly linked. Police and partner assessments
suggest that young people reported missing from children’s homes are likely to 
offend. Data from youth offending services recognises the strong correlation between 
first time entrants to the criminal justice system, reoffending rates and young people 
in care.

I will commission youth prevention and diversion pathways which support two 
specific groups of young people: high risk entrants to the criminal justice system and
repeat young offenders already within the criminal justice system.

Strategic Priority 1 - Preventing and diverting young people from offending

Early intervention offers an opportunity to improve the lives and futures of our 
children and young people. In turn this reduces crime and the cost of people in the 
criminal justice system. I support this approach fully and believe it holds particular 
relevance to preventing offending amongst children and young people.

Locally, there are innovative and effective prevention and diversion activities to 
ensure local children and young people do not become involved in crime and ASB. I 
am aware that organisations such as Youth Offending services, police, Children and 
Young People’s Services, Community Safety Partnerships and voluntary and 

19

31



Police and Crime Plan 2013 -17 DRAFT 

community organisations have developed and are delivering effective interventions. 
Performance in this area is strong. Youth Offending services, in collaboration with 
partners, have achieved year-on-year reductions in the number of first time entrants 
into the criminal justice system. 

I am keen to contribute to and build on this progress, ensuring the focus on 
prevention and diversion remains. I would like to see restorative and other alternative 
approaches known to be effective in reducing the risk of young people offending
continue to be developed and utilised as well as early intervention for ‘at risk groups’.
As this area of work spans a number of partnership areas (e.g. children and young 
people, safeguarding, community safety, health and well-being), I will work with 
partners to agree the best overall strategy to drive this preventative agenda. 

How this will be measured:

Reduction in the number of 10-17 year olds entering the Criminal Justice 
System for the first time and receiving community resolutions, youth caution 
and youth conditional cautions.

Strategic Priority 2 - Reducing reoffending amongst young people and adults

Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland have a strong record of strategic and 
operational partnerships across the sectors, which have resulted in success in 
reducing reoffending amongst young people and adults. Multi-agency partnerships 
such as youth offending services, drugs intervention programme, MAPPA and 
integrated offender management, including the work with prolific and priority 
offenders and adult short term prisoners, have demonstrated the effectiveness of 
adopting a partnership approach to reducing reoffending and protecting the public 
from harm. Progress has been made in developing services across the seven 
pathways out of offending: accommodation; education, training and employment; 
health; drugs and alcohol; finance, benefit and debt; children and families; attitudes,
thinking and behaviour.  I am committed to contributing to, and ensuring that the 
diverse needs of young people and adult offenders are met. 

I will seek to support these existing arrangements, through the Strategic Partnership 
Board and by working collaboratively in order to develop our response and further 
reduce reoffending. 

There is national evidence that this group benefits from a bespoke approach that 
supports their transition into a constructive and crime free adulthood. With partners, I 
would like to ensure our approach is as effective as possible. This will require 
analysis of an offender’s needs across the pathways out of offending.  Research will
need to be underpinned by local experience, so the design of interventions and 
commissioning is well informed. Given that this priority spans the work of several 
different agencies, I propose that this is overseen by the Strategic Partnership Board
and, in particular, the Reducing Reoffending Board.

Further information on how we will positively impact on offending and reoffending can 
be found in the Commissioning intentions http://www.leics.pcc.police.uk/Planning-
and-Money/Commissioning.aspx

20

32



Police and Crime Plan 2013 -17 DRAFT 

How this will be measured:

Reduction in offending by 18-24 year olds
Reduction in reoffending by 18-24 year olds 

Strategic Priority 3 - Reducing alcohol and drug related offending and
reoffending

The relationship between drugs, alcohol and crime is complex. There is a clear link 
between drug misuse and (acquisitive) crime that generates cash, such as shop theft 
and burglary. Alcohol is often a factor in violent crime and domestic abuse. Local 
figures indicate that alcohol is a factor in 50% of violence and assault offences. 

Offenders known to the local youth offending services and probation service display 
significant levels of offending related need in this area; approximately a third of adult 
offenders have an alcohol need and a third also have a drug misuse need 
underpinning their offending. A proportion of young people known to youth offending 
services have an assessed level of substance misuse need which presents a 
significant issue which requires addressing. 

The history of partnership working is strong in this area and there has been 
considerable success, for example, in the design and commissioning of an end-to-
end treatment pathway for drug and alcohol misuse offenders across the area and a
strong record of performance. I also recognise the wealth of knowledge and expertise 
across provider organisations and strategic and commissioning partnerships such as 
the Leicestershire and Rutland Substance Misuse Partnership Board, the Drug and 
Alcohol Commissioning Group and the Criminal Justice Strategic Commissioning 
Group.  The Strategic Partnership Board has supported this framework and I look 
forward to building on the progress already made by pursuing shared priorities 
through this Board. Providing drug and alcohol treatment is key to achieving success
in this area. I hope to see an increase in the number of individuals who successfully 
complete their treatment. 

In my manifesto, I made a commitment to make inner city and urban areas more 
family friendly and less affected by alcohol related offending, which is particularly 
prevalent during the night time economy hours of 7pm-7am. Through ongoing 
partnership work, I believe we can reduce the impact of alcohol misuse, including 
accidental injury, violence (particularly domestic abuse) and impaired decision 
making, which can lead to vulnerability.

How this will be measured:

Increase in the number of successful drug and alcohol treatment completions.
Reduction in the number of re-entry into structured treatment within 6 months 
of successful completion.
Reduction in reoffending rates amongst those offenders within criminal justice 
treatment.
Reduction in the number of incidents recorded in or near licensed premises 
during the night time economy hours of 7pm to 7am.
An assessment and evaluation of the use of late night levy options with
partners with a view to implementation.

21

33



Police and Crime Plan 2013 -17 DRAFT 

Strategic Priority 4 - Reducing crime and ASB caused by families in a 
Troubled/Supported Families programme

In 2011, the Prime Minister highlighted how just 120,000 families were costing the 
country £9 billion (around £75,000 per family) per year. These families often 
experience one or more of the following; no adult in the family in work, children not 
consistently in school, and family members involved in crime and anti-social 
behaviour. Evidence gathered locally suggests certain families experience 
disproportionately high levels of substance misuse, debt, unemployment, domestic 
abuse and other crime. They are also more likely to experience poorer mental and 
physical health. 

Leicester City’s ‘Think Family’, Leicestershire’s ‘Supporting Leicestershire Families’ 
and Rutland’s ‘Changing Lives’ programmes hold great potential in ensuring a whole 
family approach is taken. They aim to work in partnership with these families to 
secure long lasting change. 

I am committed to contributing to this agenda given its clear relevance to preventing 
offending and reducing reoffending. I will ensure the police continue to contribute to 
the programmes both strategically and at an operational level. I am keen to ensure 
other programmes, such as those focussing on prolific and priority offenders and 
adults serving less than 12 months, contribute to these programmes. I intend to 
commission Integrated Offender Management initiatives which target the highest risk 
offenders, with a specific focus on 16-24 year old offenders, prolific and priority 
offenders, adults serving less than 12 months and those who are members of 
families with identified complex needs. I will also continue to contribute to the:

Leicestershire and Rutland and City Safeguarding Boards for Children.
Leicestershire and Rutland and City Safeguarding Boards for Adults.

How this will be measured:

Reduction in reoffending by families engaged in a troubled/supported family 
programme.
Reduction in recorded ASB committed by families engaged in a
troubled/supported families programme.

22

34



Police and Crime Plan 2013 -17 DRAFT 

8.2 Theme Overview and Strategic Priorities - Supporting victims and 
witnesses 

Following a government consultation in 2012 (‘Getting it right for victims and 
witnesses’), Police and Crime Commissioners will from October 2014 be responsible 
for locally commissioning most of the emotional and practical support services for 
victims of crime provided by the voluntary, community and social enterprise sectors. I
will commission support services which provide specialist support for victims and 
witnesses of crime. There is significant evidence of the link between being a young 
victim of crime and youth offending. This shows how the priorities are linked and our 
response across the partnership must also understand and respond to these cross-
overs. 

Provision will be focused on the vulnerable, those who have suffered the greatest 
impact from crime including victims of serious crime and those who are persistently 
targeted.

Children and young people are often victims of crime and anti-social behaviour. I am 
committed to protecting children and young people from becoming victims and 
witnesses and supporting them wholeheartedly should they become a victim or 
witness. The confidence and trust of victims to seek the help of the police, and their 
experience when they do so, is a golden thread throughout this Plan. I have 
purposely chosen measures of success that are meaningful and transparent, so that 
performance is not just restricted to achievement against targets but most importantly 
on meeting the needs of victims.

Strategic Priority 5 - To increase reporting of domestic abuse and ensure a 
positive outcome for victims and witnesses of domestic abuse

Domestic abuse is a term used to cover all forms of abuse, control and violence
between those aged 16 or over who are, or have been intimate partners or family 
members.  I recognise that domestic abuse can affect all communities and as such I 
am committed to ensuring that Leicestershire Police continue to provide an 
accessible service to all victims of domestic abuse. I am keen to encourage male and
female victims and those in same sex relationships to report incidents of domestic 
abuse and access services. 

The Crime Survey for England and Wales (CSEW) indicates that less than 40% of 
domestic incidents are reported to the police, and that 44% of victims are involved in 
repeat victimisation. The most common crimes committed in the household are 
common assault and actual bodily harm (ABH). Less reported domestic abuse such 
as forced marriage will be looked at to ensure we increase our understanding in this 
area and have services in place that enable confident reporting. 

Police and partners will work together to develop a shared understanding of domestic 
abuse and the best ways to recognise, prevent and reduce offending. 

I will work with the Domestic Safety Strategy Board to achieve these aims, which 
encourages agencies and partnerships to work jointly including the sharing of 
resources. The Board oversees and coordinates the implementation and delivery of 
domestic abuse priorities agreed in the Leicestershire Multi Agency Domestic Abuse 
Strategy. The police have a key role to play in delivering this strategy. The Crown 
Prosecution Service is supporting this area of work and is driving an increase in guilty 

23

35



Police and Crime Plan 2013 -17 DRAFT 

pleas at first hearing to reduce the threat to individuals and increase efficiency in the 
service. 

Leicestershire Police conduct a bespoke survey to capture the experiences of 
domestic abuse victims as these are excluded from the Home Office Violent Crime 
Survey.  This is conducted quarterly and will be used to monitor the level of service 
and care shown to victims of domestic incidents. Leicestershire Police have 
developed a robust repeat victim monitoring tool and process, enabling repeat 
victims to be identified and support to be provided swiftly and appropriately. An 
increase in confidence inevitably results in an apparent increase in the reporting of 
this type of crime therefore I have not set a reduction target for this priority. I am keen 
to set an outcome target and therefore assign significant resource to the area of the 
greatest threat, which is domestic abuse with injury.

The commissioning intentions will deliver services for victim and witnesses to provide 
a consistent, reliable and positive journey for victims and witnesses of domestic 
abuse.

How this will be measured:

50% Domestic abuse with injury crime outcome rate1

90% Satisfaction rate

Strategic Priority 6 - To increase reporting of serious sexual offences and
ensure a positive outcome for victims and witnesses of serious sexual 
offences

Over the past three years the number of recorded serious sexual offences in 
Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland has seen an upward trend. Serious sexual 
offences include rape and sexual assaults on children or vulnerable adults. High 
profile media reporting may have impacted on people feeling more confident in 
reporting offences. It is also hoped that focussed work to increase confidence and 
the victim and witness experience is also a factor. More than half of sexual offences 
are committed in dwellings with rape and sexual assault being more likely in 
domestic settings. Offences committed in public tend to be sexual assault and 
indecent exposure.

Dealing with serious sexual offences is complex and I would like the police and 
Community Safety Partnerships to work together to increase their knowledge and 
practices in order to protect those most at risk of becoming a victim of sexual crime
and reduce offending. A report by the Office of National Statistics report in 2013
concluded that only 15% of female victims reported serious sexual offences (there is 
no capable data relating to male victims). The police and our partners must continue 
to work together to encourage the reporting of serious sexual assault and be in a 
position to take appropriate, positive action to help those who come forward to report 
such crimes.

A number of factors influence crime outcome rates but it remains a priority to support 
victims throughout the investigation as well as to bring the offenders to justice. Whilst 
further detailed analysis will be required, I expect the police to continue to strive to 
reach the crime outcome rate and bring to justice the most harmful offenders in 
society.

1
A crime outcome is a sanctioned detection or community resolution

24

36



Police and Crime Plan 2013 -17 DRAFT 

Support for victims and witnesses are of paramount importance. Services will be 
commissioned to help people to cope with the immediate impacts of sexual crime 
and recover from harm and distress of being a victim or witness in a sexual crime. 

Bespoke surveys and assessments of the quality of service provided to victims of 
serious sexual assault are completed throughout the year.  The findings enable the 
police to understand the needs of victims and provide the most appropriate approach 
to meet these needs.

A numerical target of crime outcomes of serious sexual offences is being used to
focus resources on bringing the most serious offenders to justice. 

How this will be measured:

Partners have agreed to work together to agree the most robust and victim 
focused performance measures. Performance indicators will be published in 
January 2014. 

Strategic Priority 7 - To increase reporting of hate crimes and ensure a positive 
outcome for victims and witnesses of hate crime offences

I am proud to be the Police and Crime Commissioner for one of the most diverse and
multi-cultural policing areas in England and Wales.  I value this diversity, and have 
pledged to protect the most vulnerable in society and to support victims of hate crime 
and hate related anti-social behaviour (ASB). All available research and testimonies 
from voluntary organisations (Challenge it, Report it, Stop it: The Government’s Plan 
to Tackle Hate Crime March 2012) suggest that hate crime is significantly under-
reported. I will do all I can to create a culture which changes this.

The Equality and Human Rights Commission (EHRC) released its ‘Manifesto for 
Change: Out in the Open’ earlier this year (following their 2011 report ‘Hidden in 
Plain Sight’).  Both of these reports look at how the police responded to victims of 
disability related hate crime and anti-social behaviour.  Leicestershire Police have 
engaged with the EHRC to implement the recommendations set out in the reports 
across all types of hate crime including:

Evaluating the steps taken to identify, prevent and address hate crime.

Complying with the Public Sector Equality Duty.

Identifying repeat and vulnerable victims at the first point of contact.

Being transparent in the recording of hate related crimes and incidents and 
exploring more accessible ways for people to report these crimes.

I will do everything in my power to ensure all residents feel safe and able to conduct 
their lives free from fear.  I expect Leicestershire Police to work with communities and 
partners to encourage the reporting of all hate crime (any criminal offence or non-
crime incident which is perceived, by the victim or any other person, to be motivated
by a hostility or prejudice based on a person’s age, disability, gender, gender re-
assignment, race, religion or belief, or sexual orientation) and to promote confidence 
amongst our communities that they will be protected from harm. Those committing 
such offences will be dealt with swiftly and robustly.

It is important that every victim of hate crime receives a high standard of service from 
the police, from the initial response through to the conclusion of the investigation.  

25

37



Police and Crime Plan 2013 -17 DRAFT 

Satisfaction targets are important and we must make sure we are listening to the 
views and experiences of people.  This allows us to reflect on what we can do to 
address under reporting and encourage people to come forward and tell us about 
things that have happened. I will commission services which help build confidence 
and trust in the police and criminal justice system so victims and witnesses feel 
supported and able to report hate crime. An increase in reporting will help us to 
understand and tackle the root causes of hate crime. 

Leicestershire Police recently began a bespoke survey to capture the views and 
experiences of all victims of hate crime. The first full set of results will be available in 
January 2014. Until then we are able to monitor quarterly the results, as this data will 
give me the opportunity to measure the experiences and service provided to all hate 
crime victims.  

How this will be measured:

55% Crime outcome rate 
88% Satisfaction rate

Strategic Priority 8 - To prevent anti-social behaviour (ASB) and to 
continuously improve the quality of service and response to victims of anti-
social behaviour

I am dedicated to tackling issues that cause the most distress to residents. Anti-
social behaviour is one of these issues. It can take many forms such as noise 
nuisance, littering, criminal damage and inconsiderate behaviour. Working with 
partners and the community we will reduce the harmful effects of ASB.

There are clear links between areas of higher population density and levels of ASB 
incidents, ASB by its very nature can have a devastating effect on victims wherever 
they live. This is especially true where victims (particularly vulnerable adults) and 
communities are subjected to repeat and persistent offending.

ASB in Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland is reported at a rate of 24 incidents per 
1000 population, which is the third lowest number in England and Wales. 
Leicestershire Police, together with local partners, have taken a very positive 
approach to tackling ASB over the past five years.  The number of ASB incidents 
reported to the police has fallen by 16% in 2012/13 compared to the previous year. I 
wish to see this reduction continue and I want to see victims receive a rapid, 
consistent and robust response from the police and partners to halt the activities of 
offenders.  I am committed to commissioning services which will provide activities 
that prevent ASB and increase positive perceptions of community safety. 

A shared case management system (known as SENTINEL) is being used to bring 
together all reported incidents of ASB; this will include not just police recorded 
incidents but also data from all local authorities across Leicester, Leicestershire and 
Rutland. By working with our partners, we aim to improve our understanding of ASB 
– its causes, its frequency, its geography, and its broader impact.   We can expect 
some of this work to result in an increase in the incidents reported to the police as 
this data sharing across all agencies improves our awareness, and understanding, of 
this behaviour.  Local initiatives encouraging ASB reporting have proved a success 
with increases in reporting noted from diverse sections of our communities. 
For these reasons, I am not setting a reduction target for ASB at this time. Rather, I 
have set a high target with regard to those who have been affected by ASB being 

26

38



Police and Crime Plan 2013 -17 DRAFT 

reassured and satisfied by the response provided.  I am keen that there is robust 
identification of those who are repeat victims of ASB. This will ensure those most 
affected by ASB will receive a high level of service and ASB perpetrators will be dealt 
with in a swift and robust manner. Through the future development of partnerships 
particularly at a local level and by gaining a greater understanding of the issues that 
lie at the root cause of ASB, a longer term, joint strategy will be developed to reduce
ASB with even greater focus and energy. A multi-agency ASB strategy group 
provides joined up focus across the City, County and Rutland areas and an ASB 
forum has been set up help to drive this area of business. Police and Partnership 
performance in reducing ASB and the impact of ASB will be scrutinised and my 
commitment to improving resident’s confidence in this area is key in achieving this 
Plan. 

How this will be measured:

85% Satisfaction rate

Strategic Priority 9 - To continually improve the quality of service and response 
to victims of crime

I will hold the Chief Constable to account for the quality of service provided to those 
who need the police or who are victims of crime.

A range of experiences contribute to the overall sense of satisfaction. Commissioned 
services will look to improve the whole victim experience, from initial contact with the 
police through to providing services to support recovery. I expect all victims of crime, 
and other users of the police to receive an excellent standard of service and I will, 
therefore, maintain an initial target of 85% satisfaction for ‘all users’. Satisfaction and 
confidence in the police are undoubtedly linked. Those who are satisfied with the 
service they receive will be keen to contact the service again if needed and share 
positive experiences. This will in turn increase confidence in the service people will 
receive. This links with my commitment to increase reporting of domestic abuse, 
serious sexual offences and hate crime to enable support to be provided to victims of 
these underreported crimes and incidents. I will measure this through the victim 
satisfaction surveys conducted under Home Office rules and guidance, which 
includes satisfaction with the follow up process.  ‘All user’ satisfaction has remained 
relatively stable at around the 85% mark for several years. It is believed that activity 
to increase satisfaction above these levels more rapidly will require extensive 
commitment of time and resources and the potential improved impact and outcomes 
will not be proportionate to the level of input. As satisfaction levels are already high I 
feel resources are better allocated elsewhere.  

How this will be measured:

85% ‘all user’ Satisfaction rate

1% increase to this target, year on year, to achieve an overall satisfaction rate 
of 88% by the end of 2016

27

39



Police and Crime Plan 2013 -17 DRAFT 

8.3 Theme Overview and Strategic Priorities - Making Communities and 
Neighbourhoods safer 

I am committed to reducing crime and making communities safer in urban and rural 
communities and will support and commission projects which meet local needs.

There is a strong correlation between high levels of crime, poverty and poor health.
Crime is associated with social disorganisation, low social capital, relative deprivation 
and health inequalities. It is clear the geographical distribution of ill health closely 
matches that of crime. Crime can certainly lead to ill health but equally crime and ill 
health have common causes. We know offenders are more likely to have a 
background of broken families, child abuse, low levels of education and literacy – all 
of which are linked to poor health as well as crime. Perceptions of community safety 
can differ greatly. Areas of deprivation may have different expectations of what 
constitutes community safety than those in more affluent areas.

In order to reflect the actual need combined with local aspiration and expectations of 
community safety, each Community Safety Partnership area prepares their own 
Community Safety Strategic Needs Assessment which directs the CSP Local 
Strategies. The content of these Strategies are not included within this Plan, but the 
content has been used to shape this Plan and is considered as part of the co-
commissioning business case process with CSPs.

Strategic Priority 10 - To continuously improve the police service to the 
communities of Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland

I said in my manifesto that I want Leicestershire Police to be amongst the best police 
services in the country.  The Crime Survey for England and Wales (CSEW) asks: 
“Taking everything into account, how good a job do you think the police are 
doing in this area?” For Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland approximately 1000 
people are surveyed by the CSEW.  Additionally, Leicestershire Police conduct a
Community Based Survey (CBS) which asks the same question and has double the 
number of survey responses and is, therefore, more statistically reliable. As the CBS 
is completed more frequently than the CSEW it also allows more immediate scrutiny 
and accountability.

Although the two data sets provide similar results and can both be used as indicators 
of success, I base the target below on the more reliable data in the CBS. This data 
allows me to look at the Local Policing Unit level and hold the Chief Constable to 
account for any identified differences in service levels between different communities. 
I expect all officers and staff to play their part in this, meeting the needs of differing 
groups and communities and adapting to ensure the approach is inclusive to 
everyone across Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland. Leicestershire Police already 
perform well in comparison to other police services across the country and I expect 
this position to be maintained. A 75% confidence rate that the “police are doing a 
good job” is, in my view, challenging yet achievable and realistic.

As I fully expect Leicestershire Police to undergo significant changes and reductions 
in the budget over the next four years I will not be setting increasing targets. I will 
continue to use the CSEW results as a proxy indicator of success linked to the CBS 
data.  This will allow me to make comparative judgements with regards to other 
police services and over the next three years I expect to see the results for the 
CSEW draw closer to the CBS figures at the higher level of 75%.
How this will be measured:

28

40



Police and Crime Plan 2013 -17 DRAFT 

75% Confidence rate in the Community Based Survey that the ’police are 
doing a good job’

Strategic Priority 11 - To reduce all crime

Overall crime in Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland is at its lowest point in 24
years thanks to the excellent efforts of the police, partners and the community 
(www.gov.uk). Reducing crime and protecting people and communities from 
becoming victims is the fundamental measure of the success of the police service 
and I expect this to be the focus for Leicestershire Police.

However, it is known that both locally and nationally some types of crime are under
reported.  This can be for a variety of reasons including trust and confidence in the 
police. There are also a number of crimes which are recorded and discovered due to 
the proactive work of the police themselves including drug seizures and public order 
offences.  

I have identified the crime areas where I want to see an increase in reporting, which 
in the past year accounts for 6000 of the total number of 59,000 crimes reported. I 
want reporting in these areas to be positively encouraged.   Indeed, I will ensure 
victims reporting these devastating crimes against the person such as serious sexual 
offences, child abuse, domestic abuse and hate crime continue to be treated with 
respect, fairness and with the highest levels of professionalism. In addition, those 
people committing such offences can expect to receive tough responses, with the law 
being used appropriately to stop their behaviour. I will not set a crime reduction target 
in areas that may lead to adverse effects on the confidence of victims to report their 
crime may impact on the proactive work of officers to find and detect certain types of 
crime.  These crime types have been omitted from the ‘reduce all crime’ target’. 

How this will be measured:

5% Reduction in all crime 

Strategic Priority 12 - To reduce domestic burglary and ensure a positive 
outcome for victims of burglary offences

Burglary impacts on communities across the policing area with a fairly even split of 
offences occurring across Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland. The intention of the 
offender in most cases is to steal but the impact of their crime is often far greater,
causing distress and fear amongst victims and the wider community.

Domestic burglary has shown a downward trend in Leicester, Leicestershire and 
Rutland in the years 2007-12.  However, in the 2012-13 financial year this trend has 
been under pressure and there is a risk that domestic burglary may start to rise again 
if left without a focused response. A number of factors influence this weakening 
reduction trend including: the economic climate; unemployment; drug and substance 
dependency; and repeat offending. Partnership working is the key to targeting the 
most prolific burglary offenders. Finding the offender is a key tactic in driving down 
volume and protecting our communities. The commissioning intentions support 
approaches and interventions that are either promising or proven to be effective in 
reducing offending and reoffending.

How this will be measured:

29

41



Police and Crime Plan 2013 -17 DRAFT 

13% Reduction in burglary 

25% Crime outcome rate 

90% Satisfaction rate 

Strategic Priority 13 - To reduce violence against the person – with injury and 
ensure a positive outcome for victims of violent crime – with injury offences

Violence against the person accounts for over 17% of all crime recorded.  The most 
common violent crime offences reported are Actual Bodily Harm (ABH), Common 
Assault, Harassment and Fear or Provocation of Violence.  Weapons have been 
used in 11% of all offences and, in 60% of all offences the victim suffered some level 
of injury.  

Recent years have seen a decrease in offences although this position is changing. 
Analysis shows that over 12% of assaults were committed by repeat offenders, with a 
clear link here to domestic abuse. Whilst I encourage increases in reporting for 
domestic abuse, the approach taken here to reduce assault with injury will help to 
reduce the harm occurring and thus protect victims. As there is a link between this 
priority and that of domestic abuse, I have asked that performance reports break 
down violence against the person into a comparative analysis of ‘all violence with 
injury’ against ‘domestic violence with injury’. 

How this will be measured:

2% Reduction in violence against the person with injury offences 
50% Crime outcome rate 
82% Satisfaction with service for victims of violent crime with injury 

Strategic Priority 14 - To reduce vehicle crime and ensure a positive outcome 
for victims of vehicle crime

The trend in vehicle crime has been downward in recent years.  This has been 
helped by improvements in car security; changes in dashboard fitted hi-fi systems 
and heightened public awareness of crime prevention tactics. However, the last year 
has seen overall vehicle crime starting to increase, particularly in relation to theft from 
vehicle offences.

The main reasons for the trend reversal are increasing fuel costs and the value of 
scrap metal.  The impact of this is a rise in catalytic convertor thefts due to the scrap 
metal value and in number plate thefts (which are then used in the commission of 
other crimes including ‘fuel bilking’ - making off without payment).  

The Police Strategic Assessment highlights rising crime levels in relation to theft of 
diesel, including links with organised crime groups as well as rural plant/vehicle theft.  
About 80% of diesel theft occurs outside the city boundaries, with increasing 
numbers of lorries attacked for their fuel rather than their cargo.
Criminals travelling across county boundaries to commit crime in Leicester, 
Leicestershire and Rutland are also linked to diesel theft and rural plant/vehicle thefts 
(which are targeted for their value and agricultural use).  There is a perception that 
such rural crimes are addressed with insufficient rigour, and I expect the police to 
focus on these aspects of vehicle crime in achieving the targets I have set out.

30

42



Police and Crime Plan 2013 -17 DRAFT 

Theft of motor vehicle offences has seen a downward trend in recent years. Recent 
trends show that mopeds and motor bikes are the most likely vehicles to be stolen. 

A reduction in theft of motor vehicle offences can be accountable in part to an 
increase in burglaries where a house is broken into in order to steal the keys and a 
car is subsequently stolen. This is classified as burglary and not as a theft of vehicle. 
Ways in which cars are stolen are changing; offences where cars are stolen and no 
key appears to have been used to start the car are on the increase. 

I will commission interventions to prevent and reduce all vehicle crime taking account 
of current trends and ensuring that the number of people affected by vehicle crime 
reduces.

How this will be measured:

Theft from Motor Vehicle 

14% Reduction in theft from motor vehicle 

9% Crime outcome rate 

85% Satisfaction rate

Theft of Motor Vehicle 

10% Reduction in theft of motor vehicle 

23% Crime outcome rate 

85% Satisfaction rate 

8.4 Making Communities and Neighbourhoods Safer - Supporting work
streams

Being reassured by the police in your local area
In accordance with my manifesto I am keen to ensure that as much officer time as 
possible is spent undertaking core tasks and being accessible to the public. 
Leicestershire Police have moved to a new shift pattern for their response teams with 
a new Neighbourhood Policing Model aimed to improve visibility and availability of 
officers at critical times of demand in each local area. The Contact Management 
Department (999 calls and operations room) have moved to a new shift pattern 
aimed specifically at improving the match of staff on duty to demand.

By working with partners to resolve some of the shared priorities, we can also 
increase the availability and visibility of police officers.  This shared approach will 
help other agencies to free up capacity and by working together I firmly believe we 
can improve the services to all residents. I have tasked the Chief Constable to
ensure officers are publicly visible whenever possible. Targets have been set to 
monitor and assess visibility performance. Upgrades have been made to existing 
technology and Leicestershire Police is playing a leading role in a regional 
information technology project and is a member of the national reducing bureaucracy 
programme. These offer a clear opportunity to deliver the technological solutions 
necessary to reduce and remove the administrative and more bureaucratic aspects 
of policing. These projects will result in a greater proportion of officers time spent on
visible patrol. Timescales are set to ensure delivery within the time frame of the 
Police and Crime Plan.

31

43



Police and Crime Plan 2013 -17 DRAFT 

Road safety 
The risks presented by the increasing volumes of traffic are a concern to some 
sections of the community, particularly in rural areas. Road safety is a core activity of 
the police service. A great deal of work goes into reducing accidents and injuries on 
our roads. This includes investment in mobile and static speed cameras to target 
collision hotspots, targeted operations (such as ‘Fatal 4’ which is seat belt, speeding, 
drink drive and use of mobile phones) and education days. The three police service 
Serious Collision Investigation Unit (Leicestershire, Derbyshire and Nottinghamshire)
is a collaborative approach to improve investigation of serious accidents and to bring 
offenders to justice where appropriate. The Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland 
Road Safety Partnership also has a key role to play in reducing accidents, injuries 
and deaths on our roads and I will work with them to provide a safer environment on 
the roads of Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland. I expect the police to continue to 
work in partnership at all levels to make our roads safer.

The use of stop and search powers 
Stop and Search continues to be a useful tool used by the police in the prevention 
and detection of crime and terrorism.  However, I recognise it can have a detrimental 
impact on confidence if it is used in an unfair and ineffective way.  Leicestershire 
Police continue to work closely with the Equality and Human Rights Commission to 
ensure stop and search is used fairly and to provide scrutiny on any areas of 
disproportionate use between different communities.

It is my intention to continue to hold the Chief Constable to account for the use of 
stop and search and to make sure it is used both fairly and effectively to keep the 
people of Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland safe.

32

44



Police and Crime Plan 2013 -17 DRAFT 

8.5 Theme Overview and Strategic Priorities - Protecting the Vulnerable 

Vulnerability can be defined in many ways. In this Plan by ‘protecting the vulnerable’ I
mean that I am committed to safeguarding people who require the need for services 
to provide support.

I am keen to commission services that provide safeguarding to all those in need. 
Approximately 15% of police time is spent dealing with people with mental health 
issues. There is evidence to suggest a strong link between mental health issues and 
offending (Mental.health.org.uk). Building on work being delivered by partners 
including CSPs and Clinical Commissioning Groups (CCGs) I will seek to understand 
these links and provide interventions to tackle these issues.

Safeguarding Children and Adults:

Safeguarding covers a wide range of issues including domestic violence, abuse and 
neglect. I recognise the valuable work undertaken by the Safeguarding Boards and 
am committed to maintaining and improving our engagement with these boards and 
associated operational subgroups. Chaired by an independent person, these multi-
agency Safeguarding Boards for adults and children have existed for some time now 
in Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland, with the police playing a vital role. The 
boards co-ordinate the activities of statutory and voluntary agencies, are responsible 
for developing policies and procedures and also participate in and influence the 
planning and development of services.  Their prime purpose is safeguarding and 
promoting the welfare of children and adults and holding agencies to account for that 
work. 

A multi-agency safeguarding group known as CHANNEL protects people at risk of 
radicalisation and is an element of PREVENT and the Governments Counter 
Terrorism strategy. (For more information see Contributing to regional and 
national threats). 

CHANNEL is a unique multi-agency collaboration between local authorities, 
education and health sectors, social services, children’s and youth services, offender 
management services, the police and the voluntary sector working outside of binding 
legislation to protect the vulnerable. CHANNEL is about safeguarding children and 
adults from being drawn into committing terrorist related activity. It is about early 
intervention to protect and divert people away from the risk they face before terrorist 
activity occurs.

I will continue to support work already in place and commission new services to 
protect all types of vulnerable people. 

Strategic Priority 15 - To prevent child abuse and child sexual exploitation 
(CSE) and provide a safe and supportive environment for victims and 
witnesses

The Leicestershire Police Child Abuse Investigation Unit manages over 3,000 crimes 
relating to child abuse or sexual exploitation every year.  I am conscious that the 
levels of reporting are increasing, as confidence in policing grows and service 
provision improves. Environmental factors (such as media reporting) also heighten 
awareness of child abuse and this is likely to impact on the volume of reported 
abuse. I encourage this increase in reporting in order both to help establish a better 

33

45



Police and Crime Plan 2013 -17 DRAFT 

understanding of the scale of child abuse in our communities and also to develop a 
culture where people feel able to come forward and seek help.   

Between 1st April 2012 and 31st March 2013, there were a total of 2,011 individual 
victims of either assault or indecency reported to the police who were under 18 years 
old at the time of the offence. Of these, 21% had been victims of crime in the 
previous 12 months. There were 96 individual victims of child neglect offences in 
2012/13, which represents over double the number of victims of the previous year.  
Although the number of reported child neglect offences has risen significantly, so has 
the proportion of detected offences, with over 76% of child neglect offences in 
2012/13 resulting in a positive police outcome. 

Extensive progress has been made to improve information sharing and ‘join up’ how 
agencies work together to protect the vulnerable. It is accepted that this will have an 
impact and has increased reporting to the police and partners. Frontline officers and 
those delivering services in the community are more aware of vulnerability and how 
to report it. The Comprehensive Referral Desk as mentioned earlier in the Plan acts 
as a mechanism to facilitate data sharing and enable a swift appropriate response. I
intend to commission interventions which proactively identify children and young 
people at risk of child abuse and child sexual exploitation (CSE), which equips young 
people with the skills, confidence and knowledge to recognise abuse, CSE 
‘grooming’ techniques, avoid at risk situations and to report incidents of concern.

To reflect the national approach taken by the Association of Chief Police Officers 
(ACPO), endorsed by the National Police Protective Services Board (NPPSB), 
Leicestershire Police will work closely with the College of Policing, the National Crime 
Agency and Child Exploitation Online Protection Centre to ensure that local work will
be in line with the seven strategic themes of the ACPO action plan:

1) Prevent – developing awareness and public confidence.

2) Protect – protecting, supporting, safeguarding and managing risk.

3) Pursue – effective investigations and bringing offenders to justice.

4) Partnerships – strengthening and building partnerships and multi-agency 
working.

5) Intelligence and performance monitoring – improving data and tracking 
progress.

6) Leadership – ownership at senior level.

7) Learning and development – from awareness among non-specialist frontline 
staff to increasing specialism.

The prevention and reduction of child abuse and CSE is something I am committed 
to through supporting the delivery of the national action plan. I will commission 
services to prevent child abuse and CSE, increase confidence in reporting offences 
and concerns and provide support to all victims and witnesses. I will set a target to 
increase reporting, so I can assess the performance of the commissioned services IN 
raising confidence in reporting child abuse and CSE to the Police.

It is not appropriate to set a detection or positive outcome target for this category. 
Equally, I have avoided setting a detection target to ensure there are no perverse 
outcomes where, in the pursuit of targets, we fail to put the interest of the child first. A
yearly police strategic assessment takes place to identify areas of concern. Regular 
internal performance monitoring alongside intelligence analysis identifies areas of 
threat that require swift and robust resourcing. 

34

46



Police and Crime Plan 2013 -17 DRAFT 

How this will be measured:

Partners have agreed to work together to agree the most robust and victim 
focused performance measures. Performance indicators will be published in 
January 2014. 

Strategic Priority 16 - Improving the response, service and outcomes for those 
with mental health needs

The term ‘mental ill health’ covers a range of conditions which affect a person’s 
cognitive and/or emotional wellbeing. Mental ill health can range from depression and 
anxiety through to psychotic illnesses.

At least one in four people will be living with a mental health condition at some point 
in their life and one in six adults are living with a mental health condition at any one 
time. One in ten children aged between 5 and 16 years have a mental health 
condition, and many continue to live with a mental health condition into adulthood.

Mental ill health tends to occur more commonly in areas with higher levels of poverty. 
Poorer patients are also more likely to suffer negative effects of risky health 
behaviours e.g. substance misuse. On that basis, levels of mental ill health across 
Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland reflect differences in socio-economic 
conditions.  Leicestershire and Rutland tend to have lower rates of mental ill health 
than average whereas the opposite is true in Leicester City where, for example, rates 
of hospital admissions for serious mental ill health and deliberate self-harm are 
higher than average.

Leicestershire Police have long been considering how they and partners can provide 
the best, most appropriate and timely service for people living with mental health 
conditions and secondly to reduce repeat demand from people in crisis living with 
mental health conditions. The police have refreshed their own mental health strategy 
earlier this year. This focus of the Health and Well Being Boards on prevention and 
the coming together of key stakeholders, promises to help create an excellent 
platform from which partners can agree common areas of concern. This can then 
result in a joint plan of work to achieve mutually agreed outcomes.

Responding to, and dealing with, incidents relating to mental health crisis, despair 
and vulnerability occupy a significant proportion of front line police officer time both 
locally and nationally. Over a twelve month period, Leicestershire Police dealt with 
more than 8,000 such incidents which amount to some 22 incidents on each and 
every day of the year, equating to 15% of all police incidents. Of these, 384 relate to 
reports of people ‘missing from home’ with many of these involving some of the most 
vulnerable people in our society including, young people in the care of the local 
authority or people living with dementia. 

Whilst the police would be the first to say they often cannot provide the most effective 
response to the service user or person experiencing a mental health episode, they 
also recognise that they play an important part in ensuring an individual reaches the 
most appropriate care without delay.

There are already well established working relationships between the police and 
other agencies who are expert in the field of managing mental health crisis, despair 
and vulnerability linked to mental illness and conditions such as dementia. A number 
of innovative projects are being tested to examine their effectiveness. 

35

47



Police and Crime Plan 2013 -17 DRAFT 

For example, a joint project between Leicestershire Partnership NHS Trust and the 
police is combining a police officer with a community psychiatric nurse in a police car 
to respond to incidents out of hours. This project is already demonstrating a reduction 
in the number of individuals needing to be taken to a place of safety under Section 
136 of the Mental Health Act 1983 which is reducing the demand on both police and 
our partners’ time and resources. The Youth Offending service work with Child and 
Adolescent Mental Health Service to provide swift interventions for young people 
entering the criminal justice system who have mental health issues. 

Children and young people who end up in custody are three times more likely to have 
a mental health condition than those who do not. They are very likely to have more 
than one mental health condition, to have a learning disability, to be dependent on 
drugs and alcohol or to have experienced a range of other challenges. Many of these 
needs go unrecognised and unmet. Around 1.4 million people with high levels of 
need do not receive any services, and problems can develop early. 20% of all 
convictions are by young people aged 14-17. Approximately 40% of all young 
offenders reoffend.

I think all partners would agree there are still improvements which can be made to 
the way both the police and partner agencies work strategically to integrate their 
services and respond to incidents of mental crisis, despair and vulnerability. In 
particular, reducing the time it takes for an individual to reach the most appropriate
care and support that they need.

In partnership and agreement with key agencies I will seek to set some clear 
measurable targets and milestones which will demonstrate we are making progress
together in this area. However, I recognise this will require a phased approach which 
is reflected in the objectives set. 

How this will be measured:
By December 2013:

Key stakeholders to complete a review to identify partnership priority areas to 
facilitate evidence based planning.

To develop a programme of joint working between key stakeholders further to 

the above review and findings around the partnership priority areas.

Agree a broader set of specific outcomes and measures for all key 

stakeholders.

Strategic Priority 17 - To reduce the number of repeat missing person reports

There are approximately 5,600 missing person reports each year in Leicester, 
Leicestershire and Rutland. Research (by other UK police services) shows that each 
missing person incident costs between £1000 and £2000 to investigate and resolve.  
Assuming even the lower of these estimates, the annual financial cost to 
Leicestershire Police in responding to missing persons reports is over £5 million each
year.  In the worst case this cost estimate rises to over £10 million each year; or well 
over 5% of our budget.

Analysis demonstrates that the greatest numbers of reports are made from children’s
homes, mental health units and those people who go wandering due to dementia. 
Nine specific locations across the City and Counties accounted for 21% of all missing 
from home reports in 2011/12. This equates to 1,176 reports and a projected cost to 
policing of £1.17 million (based on the lower cost estimate). Young people that go 

36

48



Police and Crime Plan 2013 -17 DRAFT 

missing are likely to go missing on more than one occasion, and there is evidence to 
suggest that missing persons are at risk of abuse and also of being involved in crime.  
Adults who go missing are likely to have mental health issues and go missing from 
local mental health care facilities.  

There are existing partnerships in place which work to tackle issues of vulnerability, 
namely the Leicestershire and Rutland Safeguarding Boards for both adults and 
children and the same operating for Leicester City. I am committed to maintaining 
and improving our engagement and contributions to these Boards, associated 
partnership structures and operational groups.

Whilst the change in definition may assist with the risk management of reports 
received, partners involved in the process suggest that more proactive preventative 
partnership management of those individuals who are repeatedly missing from home 
is likely to have the greater impact on the PCC’s related strategic priority.

I am pleased there is ongoing work with partner agencies to reduce the level of 
missing person reports from some of the locations noted above, with this effort 
focusing on individuals who are repeatedly reported missing. In addition to the 
financial implications, there are clear risk factors associated with the more vulnerable 
persons, either by virtue of their mental health issues and/or their age.  

Children who go missing on a regular basis are at increased risk from: sexual 
exploitation; drifting into alcohol or substance misuse; or a pattern of criminal 
offending. People who go missing from home due to dementia can also be at an
increased risk of become a victim of crime. Leicestershire Police are working with a 
number of partner agencies, voluntary organisations and charities to work towards 
dementia friendly communities.  We recognise the importance of working together to 
reduce this risk and protect the most vulnerable in society.

How this will be measured:

Reduction in number of missing reports.

Reduction in police time and cost spent dealing with missing persons.

Reduction in reports received from the nine specific locations which regularly 
report missing people.

37

49



Police and Crime Plan 2013 -17 DRAFT 

9. Contributing to regional and national threats – the Strategic Policing 
Requirement

The Home Secretary’s Strategic Policing Requirement recognises that police 
services need to work cooperatively across boundaries to plan for, and deliver, 
effective capabilities to tackle threats that stretch from local to national level. This 
response is embedded in specialist and local policing.  These threats – such as 
terrorism, organised crime, public disorder and civil emergencies – can spread 
across the country quickly and dynamically, as witnessed in the disturbances of 
summer 2011.  This Police and Crime Plan sets out how Leicestershire Police will 
deliver the Strategic Policing Requirement (SPR) which includes:

9.1 Responding to public protest and policing large events

Over the past year, Leicestershire Police has faced a significant challenge in policing 
large events and public protest.  This has included a significant public demonstration 
in February 2012, support to the Olympics (including protection of the British Team at 
Loughborough University). More recently mutual aid has been sent to Northern
Ireland to assist with policing of the G8 conference and the disorder associated with 
the marching season.

The Force Strategic Assessment and the UK Threat Assessment identifies three 
main threats to public order in the future:

Football and major sporting events

Industrial dispute and public days of action 
Protests from activist groups 

It is important that Leicestershire Police are able to meet high demands and have the 
resilience to support national and regional police services where appropriate and 
necessary.  I will ensure Leicestershire Police are able to meet the requirements of 
the SPR by:

Ensuring the capacity to provide trained Police Support Units available for 
deployment nationally when needed.  

Ensuring officers are trained to common minimum standards and common 
deployment methods with regional police services.

I expect the Chief Constable to continue to work with partners, regional police 
services and our communities. In particular, I want him to collaborate and train with 
regional and national partners to ensure consistency in tactical delivery and 
command functions, most especially in:

Public order tactics

Specialist skills provision including dogs, roads policing and firearms 

Operational planning

Contingency planning and testing

It is of note however, that police services must stretch to meet such short term 
contingencies rather than routinely being configured to meet such extremes in 
demand.  The latter would create a police service which has excess capacity rather 
than being lean and fit for purpose.

38

50



Police and Crime Plan 2013 -17 DRAFT 

9.2 Serious and organised crime

Serious and organised crime involves serious violence, substantial financial gain 
and/or crime which are conducted by a large number of persons in pursuit of a 
common goal.  Such activities range from organised theft to drug importation, 
counterfeiting and violent crime.  These groups tend to operate across police 
boundaries and have links either regionally or nationally. They require collaborative 
approaches between police services and other law enforcement agencies in order to 
be addressed.

I expect the Chief Constable to continue to work with partners, regional police 
services and our communities to:

Stem the opportunities for organised crime to take root and stop people being 
drawn into organised crime.

Identify the threats posed by organised criminals and prioritise activity against 
them to disrupt and investigate activity and prosecute suspects.

Understand and safeguard the communities of Leicester, Leicestershire and 
Rutland from those who travel into the police area to commit crime. 

Collaborate and train with regional and national partners to ensure 
consistency in tactical delivery and command functions, especially in:

Major crime investigation

Intelligence provision 

Serious organised crime investigation

Safeguard communities, businesses and the State by raising awareness of 
organised crime and helping them to protect themselves from this threat.

Work with partners to understand the links between troubled/supported 
families and organised criminality. 

Work with partners to understand the link between the four key themes in this 
Plan and organised criminality.

Tackling serious and organised crime at a regional level has to exist in a strong, 
robust and accountable manner. Delivery of crime reduction and an increase in 
community safety is an expected product of effective serious and organised crime 
management. 

How this will be measured:

Working with the PCCs in the East Midlands we have asked all regional departments 
to provide a summary of performance for each area of collaborative business. I will 
scrutinise this performance and the regional Chief Constables will be held to account 
for delivering local crime reduction, increases in community safety and value for 
money.  

39

51



Police and Crime Plan 2013 -17 DRAFT 

9.3 Counter terrorism

I expect the Chief Constable to continue to contribute to CONTEST - the 
Government’s Counter Terrorism strategy.

Protect - To strengthen our overall protection against terrorist attacks by working 
with partners to reduce the risk to the UK and its interests overseas from terrorism so 
that people can go about their lives freely and with confidence and protect the UK 
border at East Midlands Airport.

Prepare - To mitigate the impact of a terrorist attack by collaborating with regional 
and national partners to ensure consistency in tactical delivery and command in our 
response to ‘Chemical, Biological, Radiological & Nuclear’ (CBRN) incidents and the 
Police Use of Firearms.

Pursue - To stop terrorist attacks by the identification, disruption and investigation of 
terrorist activity.

Prevent - To stop people becoming or supporting terrorists and violent extremists by 
working with our communities and partners to:

Respond to the ideological challenge of terrorism and the threat we face 
from those who promote it.

Prevent individuals being drawn into terrorism and ensure they are given 
appropriate advice and support.

Work with institutions where there are risks of radicalisation.

9.4 Civil contingencies and local resilience

The Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland Local Resilience Forum (chaired by the 
Chief Constable) was formed in 2005 in response to the Civil Contingencies Act 2004
(CCA). This Act requires specific organisations across police areas to work together 
to prepare, respond and recover from different emergencies (such as flooding, strike 
action, fuel shortages and public protest).

The aims and objectives of the Local Resilience Forum are to make sure the duties 
stated in the CCA are met within a multi-agency environment. These are to: 

Co-operate with other local responders.

Share information with other local responders.

Assess the risk of emergencies in the area.

Put in place business continuity management arrangements. 

Put in place arrangements to warn, inform and advise the public in the event 
of an emergency. 

Provide advice and assistance to businesses and voluntary organisations 
about business continuity.

I am confident the Chief Constable will ensure that Leicestershire Police work with 
the local resilience partners to meet the requirements under the CCA.

40

52



Police and Crime Plan 2013 -17 DRAFT 

10. Commissioning Intentions 

The Community Safety Fund is provided to support crime and disorder prevention 
and increase community safety. This fund provided by the Home Office is £1,649,000 
for 2013/14. After 2013/14  the funding will be merged with the Policing Grant to 
become one pot of funding which will be utilised to achieve the objectives laid out in 
the Plan. 

The total commissioning budget for the 4 years (to 2017/18) is an indicative £12.8m. I
am anticipating that from October 2014 the funding for victims and witnesses will be 
transferred from the providers currently in receipt of Ministry of Justice victim and 
witness funding to all Police and Crime Commissioners.  The amount of funding to 
provide services for victims and witnesses is currently unknown. The Ministry of 
Justice has indicated that PCCs will be informed of indicative values to be transferred 
in October 2013.

There remains uncertainty about future funding. However, it is my ambition to, as a
minimum, maintain the size of the budget if overall funding allows and positive results 
from commissioning are evidenced.

I have made it clear that outcomes and not services will be commissioned. With this 
in mind, a commissioning framework has been created which, as it is used and 
developed, will ensure future commissioning decisions are focused on the 
achievement of clearly defined outcomes and targets. The commissioning framework 
has been designed to be an operational tool which strives to keep performance 
measurement processes as simple as possible.

The Commissioning Framework has taken the strategic priorities contained within the 
Police and Crime Plan and combined them into four Commissioning Themes. Each 
theme has its own Commissioning Plan and associated purchasing systems i.e. the 
mechanisms through which the PCC will allocate the funds within a specific process. 

Effective commissioning involves looking creatively at the provider landscape.  I am 
committed to ensuring the most effective interventions and ideas, whether large or 
small, have their value recognised and considered.  I am particularly keen that third 
sector, charities, social enterprises, voluntary organisations and small business 
initiatives remain and grow as providers and form a fundamental part inthe 
achievement of the Plan. The Framework has been prepared in collaboration and 
discussion with a range of partner organisations. Engagement with partners’ current 
commissioning arrangements will be used wherever they are able to demonstrate 
they can deliver outcomes. I am particularly grateful to partners for their willingness 
to contribute to discussions around maximising limited resources. 

I will continue to monitor progress for each commissioned activity against the 
proposed improved outcomes. A range of performance systems have been 
developed to support this. My Office  will continue to work with partners and 
providers to develop a suite of performance indicators and measures that can be 
easily managed and reported on.

My commissioning intentions published in June 2013 describe the commissioning 
arrangements planned with the partnerships and strategic boards. These can be 
found on the PCC website at the following address: 
http://www.leics.pcc.police.uk/Planning-and-Money/Commissioning.aspx

41

53



Police and Crime Plan 2013 -17 DRAFT 

11. The Financial Challenge 

The financial challenge facing the public sector is well known. Leicestershire Police 
estimate they will have to save £20 million by 2016/17 and partners will be aiming to 
make similar substantial savings as they seek to do more for less in this period of 
austerity. Local government, partnerships and the third sector are all under pressure 
to save money and deliver an improved service. Both the OPCC and its partners will 
have to be smarter in the way outcomes are achieved. Considerable effort is 
required to protect and maintain front line service delivery.

It is important to focus on how outcomes can be achieved. Through collaboration and 
progressive initiatives such as troubled/supported families, resources can be 
maximised to great effect and extra support can be provided. I am committed to 
supporting partners in assessing the financial landscape and deciding how resources 
can be utilised to best effect and savings can be evidenced. I will support a 
partnership approach to meeting the financial challenges faced in my time in office. 

Through the two years to the end of March 2013, Leicestershire Police reduced its 
required budget by over £23 million. This was achieved by reorganising its policing 
arrangements and by reducing management and administrative costs. It also 
included considerable work with other police services either to collaborate or to share 
services at a regional level. Leicestershire Police sought opportunities to reduce the 
number of officers performing roles where no warranted powers are required; this 
initiative continues.  

In the current economic climate, with shrinking budgets and uncertainty about the 
level of future funding, every police service in the country is facing significant 
financial challenges. Leicestershire Police must ensure that they are well equipped to 
meet future challenges within available budgets. Cuts alone are no longer an option 
and there is a limit to how much can be achieved without compromising quality or 
safety. Therefore the police and the PCC are working towards a radical and 
transformed service within the finance and resources available.  

You can read more about the plans for the Change Programme and the Medium 
Term Financial Strategy for Leicestershire Police in Appendix E ‘Leicestershire Police 
– The Financial Challenge’ available on the OPCC website: hyperlink

42

54



Police and Crime Plan 2013 -17 DRAFT 

DRAFT version 2

The Police and Crime Plan 
for 

Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland 
2013 – 2017

APPENDIX A

Statutory Responsibilities of Partners 

Revised Version:  October 2013

43

55



Police and Crime Plan 2013 -17 DRAFT 

Statutory Responsibilities of Partners

The Statutory Responsibilities of Leicestershire Strategic Partnership are defined in 
S17 (1) of the Crime and Disorder Act 1998;
‘Without prejudice to any other obligation imposed on it, it shall be the duty of each 
authority to which this section applies to exercise its various functions with due 
regard to the likely effect of the exercise of those functions on, and the need to do all 
that it reasonably can to prevent, crime and disorder in its area.’
In order to ensure that these duties were met the Leicestershire Strategic Partnership 
was formed. The idea behind the Partnership is that no single agency can tackle 
crime and disorder.

Partners have a duty to do all that is reasonably possible in reducing and preventing 
crime and disorder in their area under further legislation:

Violent Crime Reduction Act 2006

Anti-Social Behaviour Act 2003

Health Act 2006

Clean Neighbourhoods and Environment Act 2005

In addition, there are some powers which Local Authorities share with the police
such as:

S1 Crime and Disorder Act 1998 – Power to obtain an Anti-Social Behaviour
Order (ASBO);

S19 Criminal Justice and Police Act 2001 – power to close premises used for
the unauthorised sale of alcohol;

Underage sales of alcohol, tobacco and knives.

Many partners also enforce other legislation linked to their regulatory functions.

Trading Standards

Local authorities have a duty to enforce a wide range of legislation with a view to: 

Protecting vulnerable adults from being ripped off by rogue businesses 

Protecting young people and children's health being harmed by tobacco and 
alcohol 

Protecting drivers and the public from being injured by unroadworthy cars 

Protecting reputable business trade from being undermined by illicit tobacco 
and alcohol  

Licensing 

Partners who act as a licensing authority under the Licensing Act 2003 must 
promote, in exercising this role, the prevention of crime and disorder.
Local authorities also act as the licensing authority for gambling (Gambling Act 
2005), taxis (Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976) and sexual 
entertainment venues (Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1982 as 
amended). These functions relate not only to the issuing of the relevant licences but 
also to enforcing the legislation.

44

56



Police and Crime Plan 2013 -17 DRAFT 

Environment

Local authorities have responsibility for a variety of matters such as waste disposal, 
litter, contaminated land, stray dogs, fly posting and bins on streets. The relevant 
criminal offences for such matters are relatively low level but relieve police resources 
as they are dealt with by local authority officers.

Nuisance – S79 Environmental Protection Act 1990
The local authority has a duty to inspect its area for statutory nuisance which 
includes noise as well as investigate any complaints of the same.

Education
It is only a local authority which can prosecute for offences relating to a child’s failure 
to attend school regularly.

Building Control and Planning
Local authorities can take action in respect of dangerous buildings that could be a
target for criminal and anti-social behaviour. Action can also be taken as a planning 
authority in rectifying untidy sites, which can be locations for criminal activity. 

The partners that form the Leicestershire Strategic Partnership are:

Blaby Local Strategic Partnership

Charnwood Together Local Strategic Partnership

Children and Young Persons’ Services Board

Connexions, Leicestershire

ENABLE (Leicestershire Environmental Partnership)

Harborough Local Strategic Partnership

Hinckley and Bosworth Local Strategic Partnership

Job Centre Plus

Leicester City Council

Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland Combined Fire Authority

Leicestershire and Leicester City Learning Partnership

Leicestershire Association of Parish and Local Councils

Leicestershire Chamber of Commerce and Business Link

Leicestershire County Council

Leicestershire Cultural Strategy Forum

Leicestershire Economic Partnership

Leicestershire Ethnic Minority Partnership

Leicestershire Learning and Skills Council

Leicestershire Rural Partnership

Melton Community Partnership

North West Leicestershire

Oadby and Wigston Local Strategic Partnership

45

57



Police and Crime Plan 2013 -17 DRAFT 

DRAFT version 2

The Police and Crime Plan 
for 

Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland 
2013 – 2017

APPENDIX B

Positive Outcome Rate and Target Setting

Revised Version:  October 2013 

46

58



Police and Crime Plan 2013 -17 DRAFT 

Positive Outcome Rate and Target Setting 

Positive outcomes include the sanctioned detections but also take account of 
restorative and reparative outcomes (community resolutions), which are defined as:
the resolution of a less serious offence or anti-social behaviour incident, where an 
offender has been identified, through informal agreement between the parties 
involved as opposed to progression through the traditional criminal justice process. A 
community resolution may be used with both youth and adult offenders.

A positive outcome can be one of the ten sanctioned detection outcomes or a 
restorative justice outcome. The measure of positive outcomes is made up from the 
number of positive outcomes recorded during the year (which can relate to crimes 
committed in any year) as a percentage of crimes recorded during the year.  

It is important to note that community resolutions in respect of anti-social behaviour 
incidents will not count towards the positive outcomes calculation as this is based on 
the outcome disposals that are applied to recordable crimes.  Anti-social behaviour 
incidents are not classified as recordable crimes under the National Crime Recording 
Standards (NCRS), but are categorised as incidents under the terms of the National 
Standards of Incident Recording (NSIR).

It was announced in late March 2013 that from April 2013 the Home Office have 
agreed to include community resolutions as a recognised and recordable outcome.  

All targets are set using trend data, projected yearly figures and expected impact of 
the reduction targets against the current trends, taking account of the changes 
described above. 

Target setting 

All forces in England and Wales are subject to the same monitoring process by the 
Her Majesty’s Inspectorate of Constabulary (HMIC).  The process uses data analysis 
of various crime types looking at change over time, and differences between forces 
to identify forces that need formal attention by the HMIC.  This monitoring process 
concentrates on victim based crime, and highlights forces who are currently 10% 
above the Most Similar Group (MSG) crime rate where crime levels are not reducing 
by at least 5%.

To calculate targets for the force, it is sensible to use the HMIC methodology as the 
basis of the work.  Therefore it is recommended that the force strives to achieve at 
least a 5% reduction in recorded crime, across the priority crime types, and where 
the MSG average is better than that of the force, a reduction that will get the force to 
that position by the end of the year needs to be assessed.  If this is deemed to be 
unrealistic due to a significantly large reduction being needed, this would be 
addressed over two or three years as appropriate, with an end of year performance 
target being set as a milestone to this longer term aim.

Setting the target against the MSG average means that recent trends for the MSG 
needs to be assessed, and extrapolated to provide an estimate as to what level the 
MSG average at the end of 2013/14 will be. The Home Office recalculated all Force 
MSG’s in light of the Census 2011 data becoming available.  These new MSG 
structures were released to forces in August 2013.  

47

59



Police and Crime Plan 2013 -17 DRAFT 

In terms of the crime outcome rate, this will again use the MSG average figure to 
highlight an expected level by the end of 2013/14.  Past performance will also be 
used as a guide to ensure that any target set will be challenging but achievable.

48

60



Police and Crime Plan 2013 -17 DRAFT 

DRAFT version 2

The Police and Crime Plan 
for 

Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland 
2013 – 2017

APPENDIX C

Police and Crime Plan Data Sources

Revised Version:  October 2013 

49

61



Police and Crime Plan 2013 -17 DRAFT 

Police and Crime Plan Data Sources 

Force Strategic Assessment
This looks at the existing and emerging policing threats at a local, regional 
and national level, assessing the level of that threat and the likelihood of harm 
to the communities of Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland.

Community Based Surveys (CBS) 
The last two surveys have been analysed to gauge community views on 
policing and the expectations of the people of Leicester, Leicestershire and 
Rutland.  These showed those matters most important to our communities 
through which our priorities (and the budget) are set.  

Partnership Needs Assessment
This work looked at the wider needs assessment based around the known 
causal and risk factors of crime and disorder. We have used locally produced 
Joint Needs Assessments and data reports (e.g. A&E attendances/alcohol 
licence mapping) to support this work. The support and knowledge of the 
Community Safety Partnerships in this process has been invaluable. We have 
found, for example, that alcohol and drug misuse and dependency, mental ill 
health, employment and training all feature as strategic priorities across a 
number of partners within the community safety arena.  These factors all 
impact on crime and disorder and confirm the links and interplay between the 
strategic objectives of the police and those of our partners. The relationships 
between partners and the police will be key in the commissioning process and 
will help ensure that monies are allocated against our shared priorities in a 
controlled, accountable and focussed way.

Victim Survey data
This looks at the views of people have been victims of crime and reported the 
crime to Leicestershire Police.  I have used this data to determine satisfaction 
and confidence targets for the coming year.

Business Survey
A business survey is carried out to enable me to more fully understand the 
impact of crime on the businesses and business owners.  This information 
has been collated and analysed and will improve our planning and response 
to crimes related to the business community. 

Performance Analysis
By gauging how well Leicestershire Police are currently performing against 
the emerging threats in the Strategic Assessment mentioned above, I have 
been able to set specific targets against those threats.

Strategic Policing Requirement (SPR)
Assessing the SPR and the resources and skills required to achieve this (e.g. 
public order mobilisation or counter terrorist response). This helps to inform 
structure, staffing and budget.

Access to the PCC
I have been elected by the people of Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland 
and I am committed to maintaining an open door for communication about 
issues that matter most to individuals and groups across the force area. I 
have been encouraged by the communications received so far.  I believe that 
listening to the people of Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland will help me 

50

62



Police and Crime Plan 2013 -17 DRAFT 

develop and sustain a more realistic picture of the issues that affect local 
people. My office is developing a strategic engagement plan which will enable 
people to share their views and concerns with me.

51

63



Police and Crime Plan 2013 -17 DRAFT 

DRAFT version 2

The Police and Crime Plan 
for 

Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland 
2013 – 2017

APPENDIX D

Strategic Priorities, Targets and Outcomes

Revised Version:  October 2013 

52

64



Police and Crime Plan 2013 -17 DRAFT 

The Policing and Partnership Priorities - Summary of Priorities and Expected 
Outcomes

Reducing Offending and Reoffending

No. Strategic Priority How this will be measured

1. Preventing and diverting young 
people from offending

Reduction in the number of 10-
17 year olds entering the 
Criminal Justice System for the 
first time and receiving 
community resolutions, youth 
caution and youth conditional 
cautions.

2. Reducing reoffending amongst 
young people and adults

Reduction in offending  by those 
18-24 years old

Reduction in reoffending by 18-
24 year olds

3. Reducing alcohol and drug related 
offending and reoffending

Increase in the number of 
successful of drug and alcohol 
treatment completions

Reduction in the number of re-
entry into structured treatment 
within 6 months of successful 
completion

Reduction in reoffending rates 
amongst those offenders within 
criminal justice treatment

Reduction in the number of 
incidents recorded in or near 
licensed premises during the 
night-time economy hours of 
7pm to 7am

An assessment and evaluation 
of the use of late night levy 
options through partners with a 
view to implementation  

4. Reducing crime and ASB caused 
by families in a troubled/supported 
families programme

Reduction in reoffending within 
families engaged in a 
troubled/supported family 
programme

Reduction in recorded ASB 
committed by families engaged 
in a troubled/supported families 
programme

Supporting Victims and Witnesses

No. Strategic Priority How this will be measured

5. To increase reporting of domestic 
abuse and ensure a positive 
outcome for victims and witnesses 
of domestic abuse

50% Domestic Abuse with Injury 
crime outcome rate

90% Satisfaction rate

6. To increase reporting of serious 
sexual offences and ensure a 

Under review in line with IPCC and 
HMIC guidance

53

65



Police and Crime Plan 2013 -17 DRAFT 

positive outcome for victims and 
witnesses of serious sexual 
offences

7. To increase reporting of hate 
crimes and ensure a positive 
outcome for victims and witnesses 
of hate crime offences

55% Crime outcome rate

88% Satisfaction rate

8. To prevent anti-social behaviour 
(ASB) and to continuously 
improve the quality of service and 
response to victims of anti-social 
behaviour

85% Satisfaction rate

9. To continually improve the quality 
of service and response to victims 
of crime

85% ‘all user’ Satisfaction rate

1% increase to this target, year 
on year, to achieve an overall 
satisfaction rate of 88% by the 
end of 2016

Making Communities and Neighbourhoods Safer

No. Strategic Priority How this will be measured

10. To continuously improve the 
police service to the communities 
of Leicester, Leicestershire and 
Rutland

75% Confidence rate in the 
Community Based Survey that 
the ’police are doing a good job’

11. To reduce all crime 5% Reduction in all crime

12. To reduce domestic burglary and 
ensure a positive outcome for 
victims of burglary offences

13% Reduction in burglary

25% Crime outcome rate

90% Satisfaction

13. To reduce violence against the 
person – with injury and ensure a 
positive outcome for victims of 
violent crime – with injury offences

2% Reduction in violence 
against the person with injury 
offences

50% Crime outcome rate

82% Satisfaction with service for 
victims of violent crime with 
injury

14. To reduce vehicle crime and 
ensure a positive outcome for 
victims

Theft from Motor Vehicle 

14% Reduction in theft from 
motor vehicle 

9% Crime outcome rate 

85% Satisfaction rate
Theft of Motor Vehicle 

10% Reduction in theft of motor 
vehicle 

23% Crime outcome rate 

85% Satisfaction rate

Protecting the Vulnerable

No. Strategic Priority How this will be measured

15. To prevent child abuse and child 
sexual exploitation (CSE) and 
provide a safe and supportive 
environment for victims and 

Partners have agreed to work together 
to agree the most robust and victim 
focused performance measures. 
Performance indicators will be 

54

66



Police and Crime Plan 2013 -17 DRAFT 

witnesses published in January 2014. 

16. Improving the response, service 
and outcomes for those with 
mental health needs

By December 2013:

Key stakeholders to complete a 
review the identified partnership 
priority areas so to facilitate 
evidence based planning.

To develop a programme of joint 
working between key 
stakeholders further to the 
above review and findings 
around the partnership priority 
areas.

Agree a broader set of specific 
outcomes and measures for all 
key stakeholders

17. To reduce the number of repeat 
missing person reports

Reduction in number of missing 
reports

Reduction in police time and 
cost spent dealing with missing 
persons

Reduction in reports received 
from the nine key locations

The Financial Challenge 

No. Strategic Priority How this will be measured

18. With staff and partners, transform 
the way we protect our 
communities and deliver over 
£20m in revenue savings by 2016

A vision for Leicestershire Police 
that is radical, challenging and 
will deliver the policing priorities 
set out in this Plan within the 
resources available.

Evidence based business cases 
for change, developed from and 
based on current project 
mandates and options under 
consideration

Implementation of options 
approved through the 
Leicestershire Police Change 
Board.

55

67



Police and Crime Plan 2013 -17 DRAFT 

DRAFT version 2

The Police and Crime Plan 
for 

Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland 
2013 – 2017

APPENDIX E

The Financial Challenge

Revised Version:  October 2013 

56

68



Police and Crime Plan 2013 -17 DRAFT 

The Financial Challenge 

The financial challenge in Leicestershire is much wider than that faced only by the 
police service. Leicestershire Police estimate they will have to save £20m (million) by 
2016/17 and partners will be aiming to make similar substantial savings as they seek 
to do more for less in this period of austerity. Local Government, partnerships and 
the third sector are all under pressure to save money and deliver an improved 
service, with each organisation having their own priorities to deliver on. Both the 
police and its partners will have to be smarter in the way outcomes are achieved in 
an environment of less available resources. 

Partners and organisations are facing significant reductions in core funding alongside
the financial pressures of the economy. This is not simply internal but faces the 
financial health and wellbeing of the community who look to organisations for 
support. Organisations and partners will be examining their finances closely to 
reduce the impact of these reductions on front line services. 

It is important to focus on how outcomes can be achieved. Through collaboration and 
progressive initiatives such as Troubled Families, resources can be maximised to 
great effect and extra support can be provided. I am committed to supporting 
partners in assessing the financial landscape and deciding how resources can be 
utilised to best effect and savings can be evidenced. I will support a partnership 
approach to meeting the financial challenges faced in my time in office. 

Setting the police budget

As PCC I am responsible for setting the annual budget including the amount 
allocated to the Chief Constable to provide policing and the level of council tax for 
police purposes (known as the ‘precept’).  Policing in Leicester, Leicestershire and 
Rutland currently costs the average council tax payer £173.87 per year; that is the 
equivalent of 48pence a day and represents very good value for money when 
compared to other police areas.  Nevertheless, I will be striving to contain future 
increases in this amount recognising the pressures households feel during these 
difficult financial times.

Like other public services, Leicestershire Police face unprecedented budgetary 
challenges to its budget following the Comprehensive Spending Review (CSR) 
announced in October 2010. The CSR set out reductions equivalent to over 20% of 
the Government’s Police Grant funding element for the period 2011 through to 
2015/16. In addition, the Spending Review (SR) 2013 has reinforced the ongoing 
austerity regime. Further pressure is placed on the budget of Leicestershire Police as 
the national funding formula is not fully, or equally, applied across the 43 forces in the 
United Kingdom. The net effect of this is that Leicestershire Police receives 
approximately £4m per annum less than would be expected were the funding formula 
applied fully.

As a consequence Leicestershire Police is projecting a funding gap growing into 
approximately £20m by 2016/17. A number of options to close the gap and reduce 
the spending requirement are already being developed.  These are described in later 
sections. 

The budget for 2013/14 was set to meet the current policing requirement and the 
priorities set out in this plan without increasing the council tax for police purposes.  
This plan sets out priorities which the Chief Constable has agreed are both realistic 

57

69



Police and Crime Plan 2013 -17 DRAFT 

and affordable, over the period to 2016/17 taking account of the Change Programme 
described below. 

Leicestershire Police Change Programme 2013-17 – A summary

In the current economic climate, with shrinking budgets and uncertainty about the 
level of future funding, every police service in the country is facing significant 
financial challenges. Leicestershire is no different, and as a police service needs to 
ensure that they are well equipped to meet future challenges within available 
budgets. Cuts alone are no longer an option and there is a limit to how much can be 
achieved without damaging quality or safety. Leicestershire Police are working 
towards a radical and transformed service within the finance and resources available.  

Through the two years to the end of March 2013, Leicestershire Police reduced its 
required budget by over £23m. This was achieved by reorganising its policing 
arrangements and by reducing management and administrative costs. It also 
included considerable work with other police services either to collaborate or to share 
services at a regional level. Leicestershire Police sought opportunities to reduce the 
number of officers performing roles where no warranted powers are required; this 
initiative continues.  

Strategic Priority 18: The financial challenge

The ‘Leicestershire Police Strategy for Change’ sets out the following strategic 
objective:

‘With our staff and partners, transform the way we protect our communities and 
deliver over £20m in revenue savings by 2016’.

From this the strategic priorities below have been set:

A vision for Leicestershire Police that is radical, challenging and will deliver 
the policing priorities set out in this Plan within the resources available.

Evidence based business cases for change, developed from and based on 
current project mandates and options under consideration.

Implementation of options approved through the Leicestershire Police 
Change Board.

Vision for a transformed police service 

Initial work and analysis has led to the development of a vision for a transformed 
police service in 2016/17. The vision is designed to be radical, challenging and one 
that will deliver the policing priorities of the Police and Crime Plan within the 
resources available. 

Each significant element of policing considered within this plan is described in terms 
of this vision and how it will ‘look and feel’ for staff and our communities.

To ensure that the plans take into account what Leicestershire Police can reasonably 
predict around future demand and policing context, a PESTELO (Political, Economic, 
Social, Technological, Environmental, Legal, and Organisational) analysis has been 

58

70



Police and Crime Plan 2013 -17 DRAFT 

completed. This analysis gives an indication around the potential to utilise new
technologies to manage future demand. It also indicated the budgetary pressures 
facing the police and partners which are likely to lead to greater opportunity for more 
collaborative working.

New types of crime and methods of criminality are likely to develop, reflecting 
technological advances. There is a need to be flexible enough to reflect these 
advances and find proactive ways to meet the changes in demand.

To ensure that the benefits of a transformed service are realised, various work 
streams will need to be developed and implemented in an effective manner.

The transformed police service will feel different, as well as look different, and will 
police in a different way. This will require significant cultural changes to ensure that it 
is possible to deliver this new way of policing. Our partners and communities will 
need to be engaged to ensure that they are sighted on the proposed changes. 
Sufficient time will be required to ensure that the work underpinning the 
transformational change is completed and embedded so that the programme can 
effectively deliver against the objectives in the Police and Crime Plan.

The purpose of the service will continue to be ‘Our Duty – Protecting our 
Communities’.

The vision is the Chief Constable operationally leading a smaller police service that 
utilises police officers only in roles that require warranted powers or specific 
expertise. A programme of workforce modernisation will see police staff completing 
certain duties that have historically been undertaken by police officers. There will be 
a greater level of omni-competent officers and staff with less pure specialists, 
working within a reduced number of teams, units and sections.

The service will remain committed to local policing, and will focus on dealing with
issues at their source through a proactive and preventative approach. There will be a 
smaller local footprint with resourcing based on threat and risk, supported by 
increased accessibility to policing through technology and social media. 

There will be more remote working with fewer large police stations and more small 
bases, some within partners’ buildings. An effective mobile IT platform will support an 
increasingly flexible workforce. Greater use of e-business and other technologies will 
empower communities to access services in a different way, and the efficient use of 
prioritisation of incoming calls and tasks within the contact management centre will 
lead to decreased attended calls for service. Staff will be empowered to make 
decisions based on common sense, free from unnecessary bureaucracy. Continuous 
improvement will be embedded within processes and strive to drive out inefficiencies 
and deliver a better service. Business partnering and outsourcing will be utilised 
where it is sensible to do so, and further collaboration opportunities will see many 
functions provided at regional or sub regional level.

The current financial situation 

By its very nature the Medium Term Financial Plan varies as new information comes 
to light. The figures contained within the overall Change Programme beyond the 
current financial year are estimates based on the best information available; which is 
currently the SR 2013. The Programme recognises that, given the varying nature of 
financial plans in the current climate, the need to focus on the strategic objective 

59

71



Police and Crime Plan 2013 -17 DRAFT 

rather than a specific financial target remains relevant. The financial target serves to 
illustrate the scale of the challenge. 

It is anticipated, based upon the current estimates that the residual funding gap will 
be £4.4m for 2014/15 leading to a total residual funding gap of £19.9m for 2016/17.
The available budget equalisation reserve estimate is £10.3m. This reserve will 
primarily be utilised to support the transition to the transformed service, through for 
example, investing in new technology and training.

Background to the Change Programme 

Leicestershire Police started its programme of savings in the summer of 2009 in 
anticipation of the financial challenges.

The initial phase of the Change Programme, (summer 2009 to March 2011) realised 
over £15m of savings.  The second phase completed in April 2012 delivered a further
£8m of savings.

During these phases the service changed to a Basic Command Unit and Directorate 
model and much of the saving was achieved through reduction of support functions. 
This was then followed by improvements to the existing structure of the organisation. 

Positive feedback was received from external scrutiny about those phases of the 
Change Programme and lessons were learnt to improve future phases. These 
included the need to involve staff and local managers earlier and more deeply in 
preparing for change, and being more open about planned changes. 

This learning has been incorporated into the planning for phase three. 

HMIC value for money (VfM) profiles at the end of the earlier phases of the Change 
Programme point to a number of areas for review:

Spend on police officers per head of population is considerably greater than 
the average force in our most similar group of forces.

Leicestershire Police is considerably below the national average in overall 
expenditure on support functions, ranking 4th lowest nationally.

Leicestershire Police spends considerably less than the average force 
nationally on ‘non staff costs’, ranking in the lower quartile of national forces.

Strategy for transformational change 

In the autumn of 2012 the strategy for change was agreed.  The strategy sets out 
how the service will deliver the required transformational change. It includes:

Force Change Projects – a programme of projects designed to deliver new 
working methods, new structures and improved processes, creating a
transformed service.

Cultural Change – utilising programmes to skill and equip people in terms of 
their personal effectiveness as agents of change. This is supported by 

60

72



Police and Crime Plan 2013 -17 DRAFT 

innovative IT projects. It requires the continual involvement and engagement 
of staff throughout the change programme.

Continuous Improvement Programme – working with managers and staff to 
embed a culture of continuous improvement through use of a variety of tools 
and methodologies. This will help to improve efficiency, reduce hidden 
demand, and more effectively manage future demands on the organisation. 

The plan works within the ‘ten parameters for change’ set out by chief officers in 
2012. These include seeking to remove unnecessary boundaries created by the way 
in which the force works, and considering a force wide response, in a more flexible 
and responsive manner. 

Delivering cultural change is central to the success of the programme. The 
preparation and delivery of options for change through recognised project 
methodology is the foundation of the plan, whilst cultural change and continuous 
improvement are a golden thread running through all of this work.

Transformational change can only be achieved through cultural change, which in 
essence means changing the norms and expectations of the way objectives are 
achieved. This is a considerable challenge, but officers and staff are being provided 
with education and skills to understand the part that they can play in delivering these 
changes. This is being delivered through investment in staff, in particular first line 
supervisors, who are critical to the delivery of the changes.

Developing a culture where ideas and suggestions are welcomed and encouraged,
where staff are involved in shaping the future via focus groups and investment in 
them is already producing positive results. An example of this is the innovative idea 
for an in-house IT platform to avoid multiple entries of information and hence freeing 
up officer and staff time. 

The Continuous Improvement Team, as a part of the wider Change Team, works with 
business areas to identify issues, diagnose causes and look for solutions. Since 
December 2011 over 50 continuous improvement projects have been completed and
as a result examples of improved service and performance through more efficient 
processes.

The delivery of genuine sustainable cultural change and the use of continuous 
improvement are key components of the Change Programme going forward.

Delivering transformational change  

The delivery of transformational change will require a new way of thinking. A number 
of opportunities have been identified to drive through real transformative change
through innovation and radical changes to work practices. 

A summary of these opportunities is provided below:

Research indicates that much of the demand on teams is not through the traditional 
work streams of victims, witnesses, communities and partners but from the 
administrative requirements of the organisation. By better understanding this demand 
elimination of wasteful, non-value adding activity will increase efficiency.

61

73



Police and Crime Plan 2013 -17 DRAFT 

Research indicates that a proportion of demand can be transferred by transferring 
contact to lower cost channels and reducing avoidable contact. This has been 
effectively utilised by the NHS in the NHS Direct system. Utilising these principles 
calls can be managed through telephone resolution, diarised appointments and more 
effective triage calls. This will ensure the right response is given first time and ensure 
on line access to services is maximised.  As well as realising savings this will 
enhance choice and convenience for the public.

There are a number of examples where commissioning can be utilised to create 
efficiencies through partnership collaboration. Some of these include; integrated 
offender management, comprehensive referral desk, drug testing in custody suites, 
response to missing person issues at known high risk locations and management of 
incidents at night time economy hot spots. There is real opportunity for positive 
commissioning to significantly reduce demand on police resources, and for the 
tactical delivery of some of these areas such as targeted work with families with 
complex needs, and work with high risk first time entrants into the criminal justice 
system. Such interventions will address the key themes of the Police and Crime Plan. 

Improved collaborative working with partners will assist in better managing demand. 
Success has already been seen, for example, with work in creating a mental health 
‘triage’ car which provides an enhanced service to vulnerable people while helping 
officers make decisions based on clinical need at the earliest opportunity. This has
been highlighted as best practice nationally.

The work on the Change Programme will be closely linked to the Reducing 
Bureaucracy Programme to ensure work is free of unnecessary bureaucratic 
burdens. One notable element of this work is the planning towards a ‘data centre 
concept’ which could realise savings by offering a far more efficient IT system, 
avoiding ‘double keying’ and providing a true ‘work anywhere’ solution.

Strategies aim to further embed and deploy police support volunteers and the Special
Constabulary to increase the capacity and capability of Leicestershire Police.

Future business partnering options are being scoped and assessed, in line with the 
options for change being considered. Many distinct areas of business are already 
outsourced, especially in support functions.

Significant collaboration is underway within the region and these arrangements now 
provide significant proportions of support services and specialist operations for the 
force. This has enabled increased capability and capacity at reduced cost. 
Collaborative arrangements are being actively developed in a number of areas which 
are intended to realise future savings and improve capability.  

The future - The 2017 policing model 

The proposed model for policing will deliver the Chief Constable’s vision for 
transformational change by creating a smaller, more active police service focussed 
on the prevention of crime and the protection of our communities and individuals.  
Officers and staff will remain within local communities operating from smaller bases 
(often with partners) and deployed according to threat and risk, supported by an 
effective mobile ICT platform. 

The proposed model is based on the situation as it is known today, and expected to 
be deliverable within projected future funding levels. It is however, scalable to allow 
further savings as more efficient working practices transform service delivery.

62

74



Police and Crime Plan 2013 -17 DRAFT 

At the heart of this new model is the effective identification of threat and risk and the 
deployment of resources to mitigate that risk. One of the key elements of this will be 
the aligning of intelligence with Contact Management and Control Room functions, so 
that the initial assessment of calls for service is accessed against real time 
intelligence and threat, risk and harm triage. This will complement a professionalised 
Contact Management Department, effectively triaging calls for service. 

Local policing will continue to be responsible for keeping our communities safe, 
delivering a service driven by intelligence and focused on threat, risk and harm. It will 
achieve this by the removal of boundaries with consequential streamlining of 
management and support costs. There will be the creation of smaller neighbourhood 
based units to promote greater operational flexibility. Resources will be aligned 
based on threat, risk and harm, prioritising local crime investigation against 
individuals who pose the greatest threat and risk. This will be supported by 
modernisation, making greater use of investigative support assistants. With partners 
information will be communicated and promote visible policing activity through the 
development of shared services and the use of social media. 

Corporate functions will be responsible for promoting innovation and creativity to 
deliver the infrastructure, processes, systems and functions that support the 
operating model. This will be supported by a Change Team, responsible for the 
delivery of the Change Programme and transformational change needed to deliver 
the required revenue savings. 

How this will be achieved

The transformed service has been described but the journey to get there is complex. 
Each of the individual proposals to reduce costs has also been assessed in terms of 
its coherence with other proposals, when it can be implemented effectively and the 
investment required delivering it. Much depends on the amount of transformational 
work required in order to deliver the change and the investment of time and cost 
required.

Phase 1
The financial year commencing April 2014 is when the first cost reductions of £4.4m 
need to be achieved. The proposed savings for this year are made up of:

Non-staff savings £1.5m

Modernisation £0.63m

Police staff reductions £1.14m

Police officer reduction £1.10m

In order to achieve these reductions, the police officer establishment will reduce 
slightly but will still provide enough officers to support the model through a limited use
of the budget equalisation reserve; £0.23m. Police staff numbers overall will reduce 
slightly. 

Phase 2
By April 2016 cost reductions of £8.6m must be realised.  The additional £4.2m for 
this year are proposed to be made up of:

Non-staff savings £0.9m

Modernisation £1.07m

Police staff and officer reductions £1.81m

63

75



Police and Crime Plan 2013 -17 DRAFT 

Temporary use of the budget equalisation reserve £0.42m

The police officer reduction in establishment will be more impactive in this year based 
on the number of leavers expected; at one point it is estimated that the establishment 
will fall below the numbers required to make savings. This will be closely monitored 
to try to ensure, where possible, the actual establishment matches the numbers 
required to deliver savings and the service.

Phase 3
By April 2017 a cost reduction of £19.9m will need to have been achieved. The 
proposals from the Change Programme outline the potential for £23m reduction. This 
means there will be some flexibility within proposals in order to achieve the savings 
required and to shape the service needed to deliver the Police and Crime Plan. 
During this year a transformed service will start to take shape and significant 
changes will have been delivered. It is anticipated that most changes will have most
impact in this year even if they commenced in earlier phases:

Non-staff savings £0.423m

Police staff reduction £2.0m

Police officer and supervisory reduction £12.37m

Due to the projected profile of police officer leavers being slower than that required to 
arrive at the redesign policing model, some £4.1m may be drawn from the budget 
equalisation reserve in 2016/17.

Robustness of the Change Programme

The programme has been carefully created so as to fulfil a vision of a force fit for 
2016/17 that will deliver the Police and Crime Plan within the resources available. 
Many system, process and people changes need to be implemented in a rigorous 
manner to ensure success. Given that the current programme has the potential to 
deliver £23.3m against the £19.9m required and use £2.56m of reserves against the 
£10m available, there is tolerance in the programme for elements to be adjusted as 
business cases are further developed.

With the change team in place and lessons learned from earlier phases of the 
programme there is confidence that the Change Programme will deliver an effective 
and efficient organisation capable of delivering on the priorities with the resources 
available for the people of Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland 

64

76


	Agenda
	1 Minutes of the meeting held on 12 September 2013.
	4 Draft Police and Crime Plan.
	DRAFT Police and Crime Plan Refresh October 2013 Complete


